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In 2011, the 
nominal GDP 
for Shandong 
was RMB 4.5 
trillion, ranking 
third in the 
country. Its GDP 
per capita was 
RMB 47,000.
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2011 CHINA FOODS HIGHLIGHTS
HIGHLIGHTS

•  Revenue increased by 12.1% to £40.2 million (2010: £35.9 million)

•  Gross margin increased by 9.4% to £8.6 million (2010: £7.8 million)

•   Adjusted EBITDA of £3.9 million (2010: £4.5 million) before one off non-recurring branding and marketing 

launch costs of £2.6 million and gain on sale of land use rights of £0.5 million (See table 3, Page 11)

•  Profit before tax and interest of £1 million (2010: £4.5 million) and a net loss after tax of £0.7 million (2010: 

profit of £2.3 million) (See table 3, Page 11)

•  Net assets of £38.9 million (2010: £34.5 million), including cash of £6.6 million 

•  Condiments revenue in RMB increased by 14.1% and revenue from the Group's soya sauce business grew 

by 28.7% during the year (See table 1, Page 10)

•  National Sports Training Institute of China has selected “Xaka” as the preferred soya sauce supplier for the 

Chinese Olympic team

POST PERIOD END 

•  Strong start to 2012 with trading of condiments in Q1 2012 up 10.0% compared to Q1 2011

•  Positive reception of “Xaka” product at key Spring Food Fair in Chengdu City, China in Q1 2012 with 21 

distributors signed up and cash commitments of RMB28 million received up to 30 April 2012

•  As at 30 April 2012, signed up 118 distributors

•  Proposed disposal of Fuss Feed, the Group’s animal feed business ongoing

•  Partnership with international food brand currently being explored to expedite the Company’s market 

penetration for condiments
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China’s economy grew by 9.2% in 2011, which was down 
from 10.4% growth in 2010 but still well above the 
Chinese government’s 8% target for the year.  In recent 
months, a number of analysts have cut their 2012 growth 
forecast for China, including the International Monetary 
Fund, which now forecasts 8.2% GDP growth this year.  
The World Bank predicts 8.4%. Whilst these forecasts are 
lower than previously anticipated, they still constitute 
strong growth, particularly compared to other global 
economies.  

STRATEGY

The Board remains committed to the Group’s strategy 
to become a leader in condiments in Northern China 
and to capitalise on the rapid growth in the increasingly 
discerning consumer market.  The Chinese consumer 
market continues to grow at a rapid pace, with branding 
and food safety being key concerns and drivers in 
consumers’ decision making.  Having spent the last four 
years investing in the development of a world-class 
condiments production facility in Weifang, Shandong 
Province, the Group is now in a strong position to 
capitalise on this domestic economic growth.  China 
Food’s facility will enable the annual production of 
50,000 tonnes of soya sauce using processes which 
comply with domestic and international manufacturing 
and food safety standards.  

Since the completion of the new facility, much has been 
achieved; the Group’s distribution network has been 
expanded considerably; its premium brand of soya 
sauce ”Xaka” has been launched, and the Group has 
developed its sales team and marketing strategy.  Whilst 
this has financial implications due to the misalignment 
of investment and increased revenues, the early signs 
with regard to ”Xaka” sales are positive.  The feedback 
from the recent trade fairs has been favourable, and the 
brand has been selected as the preferred soya sauce for 
the Chinese Olympic team.  

As a result of the positive reception that has been received 
for the Group’s products, the Board is accelerating its 
plans for market penetration and expects that capacity 
utilisation at the facility will be 50% in 2012, rising to 

almost full production in 2013.  This will require further 
investment in the sales and marketing activity, which will 
suppress profitability whilst the additional investment is 
made to secure future sales growth and market share.  In 
order to help to bridge the gap between the progressive 
sales growth in new markets and the current production 
capability, the Group has agreed to sell approximately 
10% of its fermented stock (i.e. unfinished goods) to a 
soya sauce manufacturer in Southern China, which poses 
no direct competition to the Group’s target markets and 
at acceptable margins.  

The loss for the period under review reflects the 
considerable investment made in the Group’s marketing, 
building its distribution channels and investing in the 
launch of ”Xaka”.  This is reflected in the increase in the 
Group's selling and marketing costs from £1.5 million in 
2010 to £5.6 million in 2011.  

CONDIMENTS BUSINESS

The Group continues to build market penetration in its 
five target provinces in Northern China, which include 
Shandong (population: 95.8 million at the 2010 census), 
Henan, Hebei, Anhui and Jiangsu (with a combined 
market population of 304 million).  The Group estimates 
that it has signed up distributors providing coverage of 
100% of Zhejiang, Hebei and Beijing, and 80% of Henan 
and Anhui provinces.  The Group will continue to work 
on its remaining targeted China markets to improve its 
distribution coverage.  More importantly, re-orders from 
the first batch of distributors have started, confirming 
the sell-through to the end consumers.  With the Group’s 
new premium soya sauce product, “Xaka”, the Group is 
continuing to make progress across the region and the 
Board believes that this product will be a significant 
driver of growth for the business going forward.  

Since the period end, and as announced in the 
Group’s trading update on 28 March 2012, the Board 
continues to explore the possibility of partnering with 
an international food brand in order to expedite the 
Group’s market penetration for condiments.  The Group 
will provide a further update on this as appropriate.  

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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The export market remains strategically important for the 
business, with the Group having started to export small 
quantities to Singapore and Poland during the period.  
Whilst the scope for the Group to export white labelled 
products to other territories is not currently material, it 
is significant in terms of its strategic value.  The Board 
believes that its ability to export overseas is a testament 
to its international manufacturing process and quality 
and this perception is shared by our distributors.  In the 
short term, it creates additional demand while we scale 
up our core business. China will however remain the 
Group’s primary market and the priority for China Food.

FEED BUSINESS 

The Group is focused on its condiments strategy and 
following the successful progress made during the 
period, in Q4 2011 the Board accelerated its plans for 
the disposal of Fuss Feed, the Group’s animal feed 
business (“the Disposal”).  In preparing this business for 
sale, the Board reviewed the current production facility 
and capacity, both of which had limitations.  In order to 
enhance the potential disposal value, alongside initiating 
a sale process, the Board is investing RMB32 million 
(£3.2 million) to relocate to a new factory on a vacant 
part of our Shouguang site  which more than doubles 
production capacity. This Disposal exercise is on-going 
and the Group will keep the shareholders updated on its 
progress in due course.  

On completion, the Disposal is expected to produce 
an exceptional profit and a positive inflow of funds.  
The proceeds will also improve the Group’s gearing 
and provide additional working capital for the core 
condiments business, as well as reducing operational risk 
in terms of exposure to volatility in commodity prices or 
animal disease.  

DIVIDEND POLICY

During the period, the Group completed the capital 
restructuring exercise and announced its maiden 
interim dividend of £0.0013 per share.  Whilst the Group 
does not have a fixed dividend policy, this was done to 
demonstrate the ability for a Chinese company listed on 
AIM to reward shareholders through dividend payments.   
Whilst China Food continues to invest in its brands and 
further sales growth, it is anticipated that the Disposal 
will allow the Board to declare a dividend to shareholders 
later in 2012.    

John Mclean
Non-Executive Chairman
25 May 2012

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

2011 was a transformational year for China Food in which 
the Group, having completed its new 50,000 tonnes natural 
fermentation soya sauce factory in 2010, moved to focus on 
the sales and marketing phase of the Group’s development.  
The focus of the Group’s efforts is on our top-premium grade 
brand of soya sauce, ”Xaka”, our new brand in the condiments 
business.  It received a positive reception when it was launched 
at the China Food Fair in Shenyang in October 2011, and this 
was reinforced in Chengdu in March 2012.  

During the period, the Group achieved revenue of £40.2 
million, an increase of 12.1% on 2010.  The Group’s gross profit 
for FY2011 grew to £8.6 million (2010: £7.8 million), while 
gross margins dipped slightly during the period to 21.3% 
(2010: 21.8%).  Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation 
and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) fell to £1.8 million (2010: £4.5 
million), largely due to the Group’s £4.4 million investment in 
advertising, market listing fees and new hires for the roll-out 
of ”Xaka” in 2011 which are not yet matched by increased 
revenues.  

Depreciation and financing costs also increased significantly, 
causing the Group to experience a net loss after tax of £706,000 
(2010: profit £2.3 million).  Depreciation is expected to increase 
as the Group is currently apportioning the depreciation based 
on the level of utilisation of our plant.

Despite this, the revenue and profits of the Group’s existing 
business remain strong. The existing ‘Hao Tai Tai’ business, 
consisting of soya sauce, vinegar and bean paste delivered 
an EBITDA of RMB48.2 million (£4.82 million) (2010: RMB48.2 
million (£4.82 million)) and the animal feed business achieved 
an increased EBITDA of RMB22.0 million (£2.2 million) (2010: 
RMB16.5 million (£1.65 million)), reflecting the underlying 
earnings of the existing condiments business and the strong 
performance of the animal feed business.  The EBITDA of the 
animal feed business includes a RMB4.8 million (£0.5 million) 
one-off gain on the disposal of land use rights of its old factory. 

Excluding the contribution from ”Xaka”, condiments revenue 
grew by 7.2% to RMB164.6 million (£16.46 million) (2010: 
RMB153.5 million (£15.35 million). Revenue from the Group's 
condiments business grew by 14.1% while animal feed revenue 
grew by 9.0% to RMB242.0 million (£24.2 million) (2010: 
RMB221.9 million (£22.19 million)). Due to the fact that ”Xaka” 
was only launched in Q4 2011, we did not create significant sales 
during the period as the intent was to canvass for distributors, 
and sales were further delayed by the Christmas holidays and 
early Chinese New Year holidays this year.  Contribution from 
“Xaka” in FY2011 was therefore only RMB10.5 million, and the 
returns from these investments in sales and marketing will be 
reflected in the forthcoming months. The Board has monitored 
the steady growth of “Xaka” in H1 2012 and expects better 
growth in H2 2012 when we achieve critical mass in the Group’s 
distribution network.   

PRODUCTION

The Board is pleased that the new factory is operating to 
expectations.  We have further improved our production by 
using only GMO-free soybeans.  While there is no legislature in 
China on the use of GMO products, we believe that using GMO-
free soybeans in our fermentation process is consistent with 
our product branding and culture.  While not a requirement 
in China, it is fundamental in export markets such as Europe, 
which are strategically important to China Food.  The Group 
has worked to standardise its manufacturing to international 
requirements with certifications such as ISO22000 and HACCP, 
BRC Global Standard, in order to reach the requirements of 
both the domestic and export markets.  

To further assist our capacity utilisation the Group has reached 
an agreement with another soya sauce manufacturer in 
South China to buy our raw fermented stock which will take 
approximately 10% of China Food’s production capacity.  This 
endorses the quality of our naturally brewed soya stock and 
also highlights the shortage of such product currently in 
China.  This provides opportunity of “industrial” usage for our 
products, whilst the Group continues to work to build up our 
own distribution channels and create further demand for its 
finished products. 

CONDIMENTS

In October 2011, the Group officially launched “Xaka” in the 
China Food Fair in Shenyang, Liaoning province. The China 
Food Fair is the largest trade food event in China organised 
by the China Food Association, held twice a year.  “Xaka” 
was received positively by distributors and retailers, and the 
product won “Best new product of the China Food Association”.  
As a result of the event, the Group signed over 92 distributors, 
complementing China Food’s existing network of distributors 
that is already carrying the Group’s products. 

This positive momentum continued into 2012 when the Group 
exhibited at the spring food fair held in Chengdu, Sichuan 
province in March.  Again, the level of interest was significant, 
with 21 new distributors already secured and a further 80 are 
in various stages of discussion.  Deposits totalling £2.8 million 
have already been received from committed and interested 
distributors which should translate to actual sales orders 
in the near term.  Given this significant interest in the “Xaka” 
product, the Board has taken the strategic decision to invest in 
marketing at a greater rate than previously planned, in order to 
capitalise on the positive response from the market.  

The Group is also pleased to announce that the National 
Sports Training Institute, which selects Chinese athletes for 
the Olympic Games, has chosen “Xaka” as its preferred soya 
sauce that will be used for the Chinese Olympic team.  This is 
an excellent endorsement of the product, both in the domestic 
market and overseas.  
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During the period the Group completed a brand makeover of 
“Hao Tai Tai” in order to target the middle income market.  The 
Group has been progressively expanding “Hao Tai Tai’s” product 
range over a number of years, however the brand is perceived as 
mid-range where the market is more competitive and limiting.  
The growing affluence of Chinese population will also see them 
trading up towards better and higher grade products. For this 
reason, the Board believes that investing in building up a high 
grade brand will provide more opportunities and sustainability 
in the future.  The Board believes that in building “Xaka” as a 
high end brand, “Hao Tai Tai” can also leverage on the branding 
and distribution network of “Xaka” in the medium term.

ANIMAL FEED

On 14 February 2012 the Group signed a memorandum of 
understanding (the "MOU") with an international animal feed 
provider to sell 100% of the feed business. Considerations of the 
Disposal include the limitations that the current feed factory is 
at the rear of the Group’s site with no alternative access, limited 
expansion capacity and relatively old equipment.  To this effect, 
we have initiated construction of a new feed factory adjacent 
to the existing condiments plant. The new factory will increase  
pre-mix feed production from 18,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) 
to 50,000 tpa and compound feed from 60,000 tpa to 240,000 
tpa at an estimated capital expenditure of RMB32 million (circa 
£3.2 million). The current discussions will include the Group 
selling the new factory as part of the consideration. The capital 
commitments of the new plant will be aligned with the progress 
of the Disposal.

We are in discussion with potential buyers and hope to update 
the shareholders according of the progress by the time of the 
Group’s Annual General Meeting.

As previously stated, the animal feed business is not core to 
the Group’s strategy going forward. Whilst it was traditionally 
a significant contributor to Group earnings, the feed business 
is a high volume, low margin business subject to fluctuations 
in commodity meat prices and outbreaks of infectious diseases.  
Larger companies with access to greater financial resources and 
technical facilities have competitive advantage in this market 
and divestment will enable the Group to strengthen its own 
competitive advantage in the condiments market. The business 
nevertheless performed well in 2011. EBITDA for Fuss Feed 
increased by 34.6% to £2.1 million for 2011 including a one-off 
gain of £0.5 million (2010: £1.6 million) relating to the sale of 
land use rights.  

SALES AND MARKETING

The Group’s investment into sales and marketing has increased 
significantly during the period, and the Board anticipates 
that, given the positive response from the recent food fairs in 
Chengdu and Shenyang, this level of marketing expenditure 
will remain significant in order to ensure that the Group 
capitalises on the opportunity in the market.   

The Group invested £5.6 million in sales and marketing in 
2011 of which “Xaka” incurred £3.8 million (67.0%), “Hao Tai Tai” 
incurred £1.5 million (26.9%) and animal feed business incurred 
£0.3 million (6.1%).  This is substantially higher than 2010 when 
we spent £1.5 million across the entire group.  

A large proportion of the sales and marketing expenditure 
for “Xaka” can be divided into three main components which 
include mass media advertising, hiring and setting up a North 
China sales team and the participation in the food fair where 
the product was officially launched.   A number of these costs 
are one-off non-recurring costs relating to brand and marketing 
expenses prior to the product launch in October 2011 totalling 
£2.6 million.  This is crucial to create brand awareness amongst 
the general public and potential distributors prior to the 
official launch.  Moving ahead, the level of sales and marketing 
expenditure will correspond to the number of distributors, the 
size of our distribution network and the level of sales.  This will 
include maintaining our mass media advertising, reinforcing it 
with television sponsorships and local television advertising 
slots as well as continuing to broaden and deepen the Group’s 
sales team.  

MANAGEMENT TEAM 

The Board was pleased to announce in March 2012 that Mr Fu 
Guoping, our major shareholder and founder of the business, 
has been appointed Chief Executive Officer of Fortune Food 
(China) Co., Ltd, the main trading subsidiary responsible for 
launching “Xaka”. This appointment coincides with the shift in 
emphasis in the Group’s strategy to divest of the animal feed 
business and focus on the consumer market for condiments, 
where Mr Fu’s experience and in-depth understanding of the 
China market will supplement the existing management team.  

Mr Frank Chau, stepped down as Chief Financial Officer in 
August 2011 to pursue other interests.  Mr Chau had been 
with the Group since 2007 and has contributed immensely to 
the China Food’s progress, and the Board thanks him for his 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
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contributions during that period.  We welcomed Ms Tang Lin 
who replaced Mr Chau as Chief Financial Officer.  Ms Tang joins 
China Food from Shandong Haoxin CPAs, China, where she was 
a Founding Partner.  

With the appointment of Mr Tom Coley, who joined the 
Group as a non-executive director in April 2011 (following the 
retirement of Mr Derek Marsh), we have further strengthened 
our management team.  The Group intends to continue to 
strengthen its Board with further appointments as appropriate, 
in order to ensure that China Food is in a strong position to 
capitalise on the significant opportunity in the market in 
Northern China.

FUNDING

The Group’s development has been funded in recent years 
through a combination of equity, shareholder loans and bank 
loan facilities.   During the period, new funds were raised though 
the placing of new equity of £2.5 million (net of expenses) and 
additional shareholder loans of £1.4 million and new bank 
facilities £4.1 million were secured.  

At the same time, the Group has £4.38 million in convertible 
loan notes due for repayment by end 2012.  Whilst the Board 
expects the majority of the convertible loan to be converted, 
£1.38 million in loan notes due for repayment in June 2012 may 
not be converted.  The Group has initiated discussions with 
the note holders to extend the loan notes as a contingency.  
£1.4 million in shareholder loans will also be due in June 2012 
together with £3.1 million in bank loans.  While the Group has 
adequate resources to service these repayments internally, 
servicing these repayments may hinder our expansion phase for 
“Xaka”.  As at the 31 March 2012, the Group has cash balances of 
£6.7 million, operations continue to be cash generative before 
discretionary investments in selling and marketing spend 
and increased working capital to support increased revenues.  
The Group is in discussion with local financial institutions to 
increase its trading facilities if needed.  The potential sale of the 
feed business when completed will also provide an opportunity 
for the Group to review its funding structure.

OUTLOOK

Whilst China’s growth is expected to slow during 2012, with 
international as well as Chinese estimates forecasting GDP 
growth rate of 8.2%, it remains one of the fastest growing 
economies in the world. Controlling inflation appears to be 

a priority of the Chinese government and the tight controls 
over bank lending appears likely to continue, despite the 
government encouraging banks to increase lending to SMEs 
earlier in the year.  Salaries are expected to continue to rise 
in line with the CPI.  However, the Board does not expect the 
Group to be affected significantly as direct labour costs do not 
exceed 5% of our cost of goods.
 
Food safety standards continue to be a significant consumer 
concern in China and the Group is well positioned in this respect, 
having achieved international food safety standards.  There is a 
clear trend for concerned consumers to move towards higher 
priced international products with better food manufacturing 
standards and brand integrity, and China Food is ready to 
capitalise on this. 

For 2012, the focus of the Group will be to continue our 
investment into the “Xaka” brand and to create additional 
distribution channels.   The Group continues to work to improve 
the “Hao Tai Tai” business in terms of vinegar and bean paste 
sales, as well as further developing this brand.   The Board 
expects to see the positive impact of the investment into 
marketing in the second half of 2012 and FY2013 as “Xaka” 
gains momentum and the distribution channels mature.  We 
will continue to update the shareholders on the status of the 
negotiations of the proposed disposal of the feed business 
as well as on the further progress in driving sales and market 
penetration.

Given the investment made over recent years and the feedback 
to date on our new premium brand “Xaka”, we look forward 
with confidence as we continue with our strategy of becoming 
a condiments leader in Northern China. 

Finally, we would like to thank all the shareholders of China Food 
Company plc for their support, patience and belief in the Group 
and the management, as well as the staff for their commitment 
and hard work in building and growing China Food.

Raphael Tham
Chief Executive Officer
25 May 2012

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
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Income Statement Review

Revenue

The Group's turnover for the year ended 31 December 2011 was £40.2 million (2010: £35.9 million), representing an increase of 12.1%. In 
local currency terms, there was an increase of 11.1%. The average GBP:RMB exchange rate for 2011 was 10.3683 (2010: 10.4602). 

Table 1
  H1 2011

RMB '000
H2 2011
RMB '000

FY 2011
RMB '000

% of Group 
Total

H1 2010
RMB '000

H2 2010
RMB '000

FY 2010
 RMB '0 00

% of Group 
Total

% year on year 
Change

Condiments 88,473 86,649 175,122 42.0% 74,707 78,815 153,522 40.9% 14.1%
Soya Sauce 39,972 48,426 88,398 32,501 36,169 68,670 28.7%

Xaka - 10,539 10,539 - - - na
Hao Tai Tai 39,972 37,887 77,859 32,501 36,169 68,670 13.4%

Vinegar 25,821 24,741 50,562 22,978 24,668 47,646 6.1%
Bean paste 22,680 13,482 36,162 19,228 17,978 37,206 -2.8%

Animal Feed 110,599 131,362 241,961 58.0% 103,229 118,680 221,909 59.1% 9.0%
Total Group Sales 199,072 218,011 417,083 177,936 197,495 375,431 11.1%

Turnover of the condiments business for 2011 was £16.9 million (2010: £14.7 million), representing an increase of 15.1% in GBP. In local 
currency terms, there was an increase of 14.1% with H1 up 18.4% and H2 up 9.9% year-on-year.

Turnover of the feed business for 2011 was £23.3 million (2010: £21.2 million), representing an increase of 10.0%. In local currency terms, 
there was an increase of 9.0% with H1 up 7.1% and H2 up 10.7% year-on-year.

Profitability analysis

The Group’s gross profit for 2011 was £8.6 million (2010: £7.8 million), representing a gross profit margin of 21.3% (2010: 21.8%).

The condiments gross profit margin in 2011 was 38.6% (2010: 40.2%). The decrease in gross profit margin is mainly due to the increase of 
marketing expenses for promotion of our new product, Xaka. Overall sales volumes increased by 7.0% with soya sauce increasing most 
significantly by 9.9%.    

The feed gross profit margin in 2011 was 9.1% (2010: 8.8%). This is mainly due to the increase of selling price. Sales volumes of premix 
decreased by 2.1% from 17,300 tonnes to 16,900 tonnes while sales of compound feed remained high at 58,000 tonnes (2010: 55,000 
tonnes). 

Segment profit after tax and before unallocated group overheads (in RMB’000)

Table 2
H1 2011 H2 2011 FY2011

% to Group Total
H1 2010 H2 2010 FY2010 % to Group 

TotalRMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Segment profit

 Condiments 13,502 (17,723) (4,221) -36% 14,063 12,367 26,430 69.5%
Animal feed    6,287    9,583  15,870 136%   5,294   6,319 11,613 30.5%
Group total 19,789  (8,140)  11,649 100% 19,357 18,686 38,043 100%

Loss after tax from the condiments business was £407,000 (2010:profit £2.5 million), representing a decrease of 116.1%. In local currency 
terms, there was an increase of 116.0% with H1 down 4.0% and H2 down 243.3% year-on-year due to the increase marketing expenses 
for Xaka in the H2 2011.

Profit after tax from the feed business was £1.5 million (2010: £1.1 million), representing an increase of 37.9%. In local currency terms, there 
was an increase of 36.7% with H1 up 18.8% and H2 up 51.7% year-on-year.
 
Selling and marketing costs were up by 266.4%, mainly due to the launch and promotion of our new product Xaka.  This consists of 
increased above the line media advertising, hiring of a sales and marketing team in Beijing, in-store promotions and, entry and listing 
costs of the products in the supermarkets.

Administrative costs increased by 6.0% from £2.4 million to £2.5 million. 

The increase of the other operating income from £9,000 to £463,000 was due to the profit from sale of the land use right.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Interest expenses increased from £726,000 to £1.2 million, up by 65.2%, due mainly to the convertible loan notes of £1.1 million and 
£250,000 issued in June 2010 and March 2011 respectively, and new bank loans £4.1 million of our subsidiary in China.

Taxation decrease by £1.1 million from £1.4 million to £368,00. This was due to the deferred tax asset recognised for the year of £1.3 million 
calculated on the basis of net loss of Fortune Food at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the years when the deferred income tax 
asset will be realised. 

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation (“EBITDA”) of the Group was £1.8 million (2010: £4.5 million), down by 
59.4%. The reconciliation of EBITDA to income statement is as follows:

Table 3
2011 2010  

GBP '000 GBP '000 % Change
Revenue                40,227                35,891 12.1%

Net (Loss)/Profit After Tax                    (706)                  2,319 -130.4%
Add:                       -                         -   0.0%
Taxes                     368                  1,434 -74.3%
Finance Costs                  1,336                     726 84.1%
Net Profit/(Loss) before Tax and Interest                     998                  4,479 -77.7%
Less:                       -                         -   0.0%
Finance Income                     (25)                    (515) -95.1%
Add:                       -                         -   0.0%
Amortisation                     188                     187 0.6%
Depreciation                     672                     368 82.4%
Earnings before Interests, Tax, Depreciation and amortisation                  1,833                  4,519 -59.4%
Add:                       -                         -   0.0%
One-off non-recurring branding and marketing costs for Xaka                  2,556                       -   na
Less:
One-off gain in disposal of land use right                          (456) -  na
Adjusted EBITDA (excluding non recurring items)                  3,933                  4,519 -13.0%
Add:
Recurring costs of Xaka                  1,855                     627 196.0%
Adjusted EBITDA (i.e. EBITDA of the existing condiments and feed 
business)                  5,788                  5,146 12.5%

Review of Financial Position 

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s net assets stood at £38.9 million (31 December 2010: £34.5 million). The increase in net assets was partly 
due to the depreciation of the GBP:RMB exchange rate at 31 December 2011. The GBP:RMB exchange rate at the year end was 9.7675 (31 
December 2010: 10.2877).

Inventories increased from £3.0 million to £6.2 million as the Group took on stock in preparation for revenue from Xaka in 2012. 

The trade and other receivables balance was £4.4 million (31 December 2010: £750,000), representing a 480.2% increase as compared to 
31 December 2010. This was mainly due to the prepaid construction cost for the new animal feed plant and prepaid deposit to the TV 
advertising agency for the promotion of the new product. There were no outstanding trade debtors overdue at the year end. 

The Group issued another £250,000 of convertible loan notes C in H1 2011. Net proceeds from the convertible loan notes amounted to 
£240,000. The Group also secured new bank borrowings of £4.1 million and shareholders’ loan of £1.4 million during the year.

On 28 April 2011, the Company issued 5,046,981 new shares at £0.53 each. The net proceed from the new shares issued amounted to £2.5 
million.

The Capital reduction was approved by the court on 22 June 2011 and resulted in £3 million of share premium being converted into 
distributable reserves. With the completion of the capital restructuring exercise, The Group distributed a maiden dividend of £93,000 in 
the second half of 2011.

At 31 December 2011, the Group had a cash balance of £6.6 million (2010: £2.9 million) and generated net cash outflows of £3.7 million 
(2010: inflow £1.8 million) from operating activities. The increase in the cash balance was mainly due to the new bank loans during the year. 
The Group spent £744,000 (2010: £4.4 million) in capital investment in the new soya sauce plant in 2011. Capital expenditure for the year 
was partially financed by the bank borrowings and proceeds from the convertible loan notes.

At 31 December 2011, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was 0.47 (31 December 2010: 0.35). In 2011, the Group’s turnover for inventories, 
trade debtors, and trade creditors were 42 days (2010: 28 days), 5 days (2010: 5 days), and 18 days (2010: 34 days) respectively.
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JOHN MCLEAN 
(Non Executive Chairman)

John McLean, aged 59, is non-executive Chairman of 
China Food Company plc, the 9th largest manufacturer 
and seller of soya sauce in China and is also Non-
executive Chairman of Sorbic International Plc, the 
leading Chinese sorbate producer and distributor. More 
recently he has been appointed to the boards of the 
China Britain Business Council (CBBC) as a non-executive 
director and as Chair of VSO China. He is also Chairman of 
Albany China. In 2007 he joined the board of Humberts 
plc, the estate agent, and became its Executive Chairman 
to lead its rescue and ultimate disposal. Prior to this, he 
carried out a strategic review for Gamma Holdings NV 
of their UK interests, including Sanderson, the textile 
and wallpaper company, and as its UK group managing 
director successfully implemented the turnaround and 
disposal plan. Sanderson was a global company which 
was brand and design led and had operations in America, 
Asia and China. In the nineties, he was Finance Director 
and then General Manager of ICS, the UK logistics and 
overnight courier business and co-led a management 
buy-out of the company with 3i, prior to its successful 
disposal to Hays plc. John is a Chartered Accountant and 
was previously with Coopers & Lybrand in both London 
and New York.

RAPHAEL THAM WAI MUN 
(Chief Executive Officer)

Raphael Tham Wai Mun, aged 42, is experienced in 
various businesses within the technology, construction, 
retail and finance industries and has been involved 
in general management, strategic development, 
financing and corporate restructuring. Prior to joining 
the Company, Mr Tham was the senior vice president 
of a Hong Kong based, GEM listed company involved in 
securities, corporate finance advisory and other related 
services and was the country manager of their Singapore 
subsidiary. He is also the Non-executive Chairman of 
Auhua Clean Energy plc, another London AIM listed 
company and a non-executive director of Byte Power 
Group Limited, an Australian listed company. Mr Tham 
started his career with the Economic Development Board 
of Singapore and holds a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) 
from the National University of Singapore. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FENG BO 
(Chief Operating Officer)

Feng Bo, aged 43, graduated from the Beijing Agriculture 
Engineering University in 1991 with a Bachelor of Science. 
She then completed her graduate course in International 
Trade at China Ocean University in 2003. She is also a 
committee member of the China Animal Husbandry 
and Veterinary Institute of Animal Nutrition. She joined 
Fuss Feed in 1994 and subsequently became its General 
Manager. Feng Bo is currently a director of Fuss Feed and 
its legal representative. 

TANG LIN 
(Chief Financial Officer)

Tang Lin, aged 41, is a Chinese CPA in Securities & Futures 
with over 16 years of accounting and auditing experience. 
She has been a partner of Beijing Yongtuo CPA Firm, 
Shandong Branch for 9 years. She was the CFO of Fuwei 
Films Holding Company (NASDAQ: FFHL) from 2006 to 
2007 where she was instrumental in helping them go 
public. She has deep understanding in capital markets 
and wide knowledge in auditing, accounting and listing 
process both in China and internationally. She holds 
an MBA degree in finance from the Chinese University 
of Hongkong & Tsinghua University, a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in accountancy from Shenzhen University, China.

THOMAS COLEY 
(Non-Executive Director)

Thomas Coley, aged 67, was appointed a Non-Executive 
Director of China Food Company plc on 11 April 2011. 
Thomas Coley joined China Food following a long and 
successful international career with Nestlé S.A in 12 
different countries building brands and businesses 
across many of the Nestlé's diverse product portfolio 
in various management roles. Tom has extensive 
experience in Asia, in general management, sales and 
marketing as well as broad knowledge of the food 
industry.  From 2002 until 2010, Thomas Coley held the 
position of Senior Vice-President leading Nestlé's Dairy 
Strategic Business unit based in Vevey, Switzerland.  Prior 
to this, he was Chairman and CEO of Nestlé Thai Ltd for 
seven years, responsible for the Indochina region. This 
role, based in Bangkok, involved the management of 12 
factories, approximately 3,500 personnel and a broad 
foodstuffs portfolio operating in 22 product categories.  
Thomas Coley's former Board level experience includes 
seven years as lead director at Dairy Partners of America 
(a joint venture between Nestlé S.A and Fonterra Co-
operative Group Limited) and three years on the board 
of the International Dairy Federation based in Brussels.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of China Food 
Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2011.

Principal activities

The Group mainly engaged in the manufacture and distribution of cooking and dipping sauces and animal feed products 
through its subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (as set out in note 3.3(c)). 

The results of the Group are set out in detail on pages  29 to 36.

Business review

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

The Directors have identified revenue, gross and net profit margins, working capital, and sales mix as the principal KPIs of the 
Group. 

Working Capital Management

Working capital is managed through closely monitoring inventories, debtors’ and creditors’ turnover. In 2011, these were 42 
(2010: 28), 5 (2010: 5), and 18 (2010: 34) days respectively. There were no outstanding trade debtors overdue at the year end. 
There was an increase in inventory turnover as the fermentation period for the new soya sauce products is between 3-6 months 
which is substantially longer than the original products for which the process took approximately one month. The creditor 
payment policy is stated below.

Sales Mix

The Group reviews demand frequently and adjusts its sales mix according to the requirements of the market. 

Overall sales volumes of condiment products increased by 7.0%. Sales volumes of soya sauce and vinegar increased by 9.9% and 
10.0% respectively while bean paste decreased by 9.4% year-on-year.  

Overall sales volumes of feed products increased by 2.8%. Sales volumes for premix, concentrate, and compound feed amounted 
to 22.5% (2010: 23.6%), 0.6% (2010: 1.0%), and 76.9% (2010: 75.4%) of the overall sales respectively. 
  
A review of revenues and margins is presented in the Management Discussion and Analysis section. 

Financial review

Summary Of Financial Results

Year ended Year ended Percentage
31 December 2011 31 December 2010 Change

£’000 £’000

Revenue 40,227      35,891 12.1%
EBITDA 1,833        4,519 -57.4%
(Loss) / profit before tax (338)        3,753 -106.7%
(Loss) / profit after tax (706)        2,319 -128.0%
Cash and cash equivalents 6,584        2,918 125.6%
Net assets 38,895      34,489 13.0%
(Loss) / basic earnings per share (pence) (1.01)          3.49 -126.0%
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A review of the Group’s performance and financial position is provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section.

Risks affecting the group

General economic climate

The general economic climate is volatile and is affected by numerous factors which are beyond the Group’s control and 
which may affect its operations, business and profitability. These factors include the supply and demand of capital, growth in 
gross domestic product, employment trends and industrial disruption, international economic trends, currency exchange rate 
fluctuations, the level of interest rates and the rate of inflation, global or regional political events and international events, as well 
as a range of other market forces, all of which have an impact on demand and business costs.  Depending on the climate, the 
Board may accelerate or decelerate its expansion of its Xaka into new markets. 
 
Fluctuations in the price of raw materials

A significant percentage of the raw materials used in the production of the Group’s products are commodity-based. The prices 
of raw materials such as corn, wheat and soya bean used in the production of animal feed and condiments may fluctuate due to 
changes in supply and demand conditions. Any shortage in the supply or upsurge in demand may lead to an increase in prices, 
which may adversely affect the Group’s profitability. While the Group will seek to mitigate the impact by passing on all or at least 
part of future cost increases to its customers this may not always be possible.  The Group can also adjust its procurement and 
inventory cycles to hedge against sudden price hikes.  However, the Group has set an inventory turnover guideline not to exceed 
90 days.

Brand recognition in new markets 

Before the launch of our new product Xaka, the Group’s condiments products are mainly medium-to-lower end and distribution 
of these is mainly through distributors in Shandong and nearby provinces. The new product from its new factory is medium-to-
high end. The majority of Xaka products will be distributed into new markets through supermarket and hypermarket chains. With 
the launch of Xaka, the Group’s investment in marketing spend will need to be higher. Despite its good track record, the Group 
cannot guarantee rapid penetration into these new markets where it may take time for new customers to accept and recognise 
its brand. The length of time taken to achieve success will impact the Group’s revenues and profitability.

Outbreaks of infectious diseases

Since the Group supplies feed for livestock and other animals, its business may be adversely affected in the event of an infectious 
disease outbreak, such as bird flu, blue-ear pig disease, SARS or Nipah virus, as demand for feed may be significantly reduced in 
the event that such livestock or animals are subject to culling or that quarantine is imposed on farms.

In addition, due to the contagious nature of infectious diseases, travel advisories may be issued and quarantines may be imposed 
by certain government authorities in infected cities or provinces. Accordingly, an outbreak can result in global or regional 
economic and social uncertainties. This may have an adverse effect on the Group’s sales and profitability. In addition, in the 
event of an outbreak of infectious disease in any of the Group’s production facilities, its management and employees may be 
quarantined and it may be required by the relevant health authorities to suspend its operations, until further notice. Accordingly, 
this may cause disruption to the Group’s business and operations.

The Group mitigates this risk by developing products for a diverse range of animals.
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Competition

The animal feed and condiments markets are both intensely competitive with a large number of both large and small 
competitors. Larger companies, in particular, may have access to greater financial resources and technical facilities than the 
Group, which may give them a competitive advantage. The Board and management regularly meet to discuss and agree the 
Group’s strategy in the face of such competition.

Food safety 

While the Group is ISO certified and HACCP approved, it may still be at risk to manufacturing errors, sub-standard raw materials 
from its suppliers or foul play which could affect the safety of the Group’s products.  This could result in fines, the loss of business 
licenses and the loss of customer confidence.  The Group has continued to take measures to improve food safety and had no 
safety issues reported in 2011 against a back-drop of increased government inspections and controls.

Cashflow

While the Group has generated strong cashflow from its existing operating activities, the Group may need to make significant 
investment in marketing the new Xaka product in new markets continuously. This may absorb a significant proportion of the 
Group’s free cashflow from its existing business. 

To reduce the cashflow requirement in rolling out Xaka to the supermarkets and hypermarkets which may require 60-90 days 
credit terms, a large part of Xaka’s distribution will be through mid to large local distributors who will pay in advance.  However, 
the Group may not be able to take this position across the board and may have to offer credit terms.   Depending on the progress 
of Xaka, the Group may have to access local trade facilities to fund its expansion.  In the event that such facilities are not available, 
the Group may have to moderate the expansion of Xaka.  

The Group also has a convertible loan (£1.38 million) expiring, a shareholders loan (£1.3 million) and a bank loan (£3 million) due 
in June 2012.  Based on the Group’s cash position of £6.6 million as at December 2011, and the on-going profits derived from the 
existing businesses, the Group has adequate funds to repay such dues.  However, this may hinder the Group’s plans of expanding 
Xaka.  We are currently in discussion with the convertible loan holders on the possibility of extending or converting the loan and 
extending the bank loan.  The sale of the feed business will also generate substantial cash return to reduce the Group’s liabilities 
and fund its Xaka expansion.

Dependence on key executives and personnel

The future performance of the Group will depend on its ability to retain the services and personal connections or contacts of key 
executives and to recruit, motivate and retain other suitably skilled personnel. The Group aims to mitigate this risk by developing 
its staff in-house, giving them clear objectives and career paths.

Financial risk management

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing financial risks. The financial risk management objectives and policies of the 
Group are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

Share capital

The Group issued 5,046,981 new shares issued during the year. The total number of shares in issue, both at the year end and at 25 
May 2012, was 71,446,972. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Dividends

The Group distributed a maiden dividend of £93,000 in the second half of 2011. The directors do not recommend payment of a 
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2011.

Directors

The following directors served the company during the year:

John McLean (Non-executive Chairman)
Raphael Tham Wai Mun  (Chief Executive Officer)
Feng Bo (Chief Operating Officer)
Tang Lin (Chief Financial Officer, On and after 18 August, 2011)
Thomas Coley (Non-executive Director, On and after 11 April, 2011)
Frank Chau Leung Yu (Chief Financial Officer, Before 18 August, 2011)
Derek Marsh (Non-executive Director, Before 11 April, 2011)

Thomas Coley was appointed as the non-executive director of the company on 11 April 2011. Tang Lin was appointed as the 
Chief Financial Officer of the company on 18 August 2011.

None of the directors has had a material interest in any contract or arrangement of significance to which the company or any of 
its subsidiaries was a party during the year except for those disclosed in note 25.

Employees

The Board recognises that the Group’s employees are its most important asset. Employees are encouraged to train and develop 
their careers.

The Board maintains good working relations with employees by the use of clear channels of communication. The responsibility 
for communication with the workforce rests with the managers through formal and informal meetings. 

The Group is committed to achieving equal opportunities and to complying with anti-discrimination legislation.

Environmental policy

The Group is committed to operating in an environmentally responsible manner and endeavours to adopt the best practicable 
means to reduce or eliminate pollution released into the environment and in the disposal of waste products. The Group is 
committed to complying with environmental legislative requirements.

Creditor payment policy

The Company had no amounts owing to trade creditors at 31 December 2011 (2010: £nil). It is the Group’s policy that payments 
to its suppliers are made in accordance with all relevant terms and conditions. The payment policy applies to all payments 
to creditors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services. At the balance sheet date, there were 18 (2010: 34) days’ 
purchases outstanding, calculated on the ratio of average trade creditors to total cost of sales. 

Annual general meeting

The next Annual General Meeting will be held at 10:30 a.m. on 29 June 2012 at the offices of Stephenson Harwood, 1 Finsbury 
Circus London EC2M 7SH.
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Substantial shareholdings

The Company has been notified that the following shareholders’ interests exceeded 5% of the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital at the date of this report: 

Shareholder
No. of 

ordinary shares
Percentage of issued 

share capital

Hermes Holdings Co., Ltd 15,056,961 21.07%

Main World Investments Limited 13,227,274 18.51%

Albany Capital Group Limited 10,144,418 14.19%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 4,057,221 5.68%

Convertible loan notes

The convertible loan notes A, B, and C (Notes A, Notes B, and Notes C) (see note 17) issued as at the date of the report were 
£2,004,000, £1,000,000, and £1,380,000 respectively. The following notes holders’ interests exceeded 10% of the Notes A, Notes B, 
and Notes C issued: 

Substantial holding for Notes A

Notes A holder Notes A held (£’000)
Percentage of Notes A 

issued

Albany Capital Group Limited 500 24.95%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 500 24.95%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 500 24.95%

Sunmax Global Capital Fund 1 Pte Ltd 250 12.48%

Substantial holding for Notes B

Notes B holder Notes B held (£’000)
Percentage of Notes B 

issued

Main World Investments Limited 1,000 100%

Substantial holding for Notes C

Notes C holder Notes C held (£’000)
Percentage of Notes C 

issued

VicTory VCT Plc 624 45.22%

Noble AIM VCT Plc 376 27.25%

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd 250 18.12%

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Going Concern
 
The directors have reviewed forecasts and budgets for the coming year, which have been drawn up with appropriate regard for 
the current macroeconomic environment and the particular circumstances in which the Group operates. These were prepared 
with reference to historic and current industry knowledge, taking future strategy of the Group into account. New funds were 
raised in the year through a new share issuance (net proceeds £2.5 million), a further convertible loan notes issuance (net 
proceeds £240.000)and additional loans from shareholders (net proceeds £1.4 million), which enabled the Group launch the new 
Xaka product.  The new product was officially launched in October 2011 during the bi-annual China Food Fair in Shenyang City, 
Liaoning Province. The Group secured two new bank loans of RMB 43 million or £4.1 million from the Industrial and Commercial 
Bank of China Limited and Bank of Communications Co., Ltd to meet its expansion requirements while the existing operations 
have been generating funds to meet the Group’s short-term cash requirements.  At 31 December 2011 the Group cash balance 
was £6.6 million.  
 
On 14 February 2012, the Company signed a memorandum of understanding with an international animal feed provider to sell 
100% of feed business. The net proceeds from the sale of feed business will be used to repay debt. This is an important step both 
in significantly reducing our debt level and also in allowing management to focus on the condiments business.   As highlighted 
on Note 17 to the financial statements, the existing convertible loan notes A&B and convertible loan note C mature on the 2 
November 2012 and 14 June 2012, respectively. The repayment/conversion of the loan notes is dependent on the performance 
of the Group.

As a result of these considerations, at the time of approving the financial statements, the directors consider that the Company 
and the Group have sufficient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and accordingly, that it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements. 

As with all business forecasts, the directors’ statement cannot guarantee that the going concern basis will remain appropriate 
given the inherent uncertainty about future events.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors have 
elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union (IFRSs). Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and profit or loss of the company and group for that period. The 
directors have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRSs. In preparing these financial 
statements, the directors are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•	 make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•	 for the group and parent company financial statements, state whether applicable IFRSs have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 

continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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The directors confirm that:

•	 so far as each director is aware there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditor is unaware; and
•	 the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may 
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP, have expressed willingness to continue in office. 

In accordance with section 489(4) of the Companies Act 2006 a resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton UK LLP will be proposed 
at the Annual General Meeting. 

By order of the board

John McLean
Chairman
25 May 2012

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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A Remuneration Committee currently comprising of one independent Non-executive Director, one Non-executive Director and 
one Executive Director has been established to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policy and structure for all 
remuneration of the Directors and senior management. 

As China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) is an AIM listed company it is not required to present a Directors’ Remuneration 
report. The Board has chosen to do so as a voluntary disclosure. The information presented meets the requirements of the 
changes to the AIM Rule 19, effective February 2010.

The purpose of the Remuneration Committee is to review the remuneration policy for the Directors and other senior 
management and to determine the level of remuneration package in order to attract, motivate and retain talent. The 
Remuneration Committee will consult with the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer in respect of their 
recommendations in determining the remuneration of the Directors and senior management. 

It is the Group’s policy that all Executive Directors’ service contracts contain a six-month notice period. 

Non-executive Directors are compensated with the aim to fairly represent their efforts and time dedicated to the Board 
and various committee meetings. The Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment stating their annual fee. Their 
appointment may be terminated by giving six-month written notice.

The remuneration of all the Directors during the financial year, excluding Directors’ interests in share options of the Company is 
set out below.

Fees Salary
Pension 

contributions
Other 

emoluments Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

John McLean 8              - - 42 50
Raphael Tham Wai Mun 5 178 7 - 190
Feng Bo 6 138  -    -   144
Tang Lin 2 20  -    -   22
Tom Coley 20 -    -   6 26
Frank Chau Leung Yu 3 109 5  -   117
Derek Marsh 2 -    -   11 13

46 445 12 59 562

Share Options

The Company adopted a share option scheme in 2007 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and granted 4,648,000 options to the 
Directors and employees on 10 June 2009.   Further 1,750,000 options were granted in May 2011 to the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
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Details of the grant of share options to the Directors and a summary of the movements of the outstanding share options during 
the financial year under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Director Options granted
Outstanding as at 

31 December 2011
Date at which 

exercisable Exercise price Expiry date

John McLean
2009 Options
Lot 1    77,466           77,466 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2    77,467           77,467 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3    77,467           77,467 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

232,400         232,400 

2011 Options
Lot 1 178,000 178,000 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 178,000 178,000 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 178,000 178,000 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

534,000 534,000

Raphael Tham Wai Mun
2009 Options
Lot 1 123,947         123,947 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2 123,947         123,947 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3 123,946         123,946 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

371,840         371,840 

2011 Options
Lot 1 177,667 177,667 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 177,666 177,666 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 177,667 177,667 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

533,000 533,000

Feng Bo
2009 Options
Lot 1 123,947         123,947 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2 123,946         123,946 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3 123,947         123,947 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

371,840         371,840 

2011 Options
Lot 1 177,667 177,667 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 177,667 177,667 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 177,666 177,666 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

533,000 533,000

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION



22

CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC

Tom Coley
2011 Options
Lot 1 50,000 50,000 25 May 2011 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 2 50,000 50,000 25 May 2012 £0.53 24 May 2014
Lot 3 50,000 50,000 25 May 2013 £0.53 24 May 2014

150,000 150,000

Frank Chau Leung Yu
2009 Options
Lot 1    92,960           92,960 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2    92,960           92,960 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3    92,960           92,960 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

278,880         278,880 

Derek Marsh
2009 Options
Lot 1    46,480           46,480 10 Jun 2009 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 2    46,480           46,480 10 Jun 2010 £0.355 09 Jun 2019
Lot 3    46,480           46,480 10 Jun 2011 £0.355 09 Jun 2019

139,440         139,440 
 
None of the share options has been exercised during the year.

Directors’ Interests

The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company at 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are shown below: 

Ordinary shares held
Director Direct Deemed
John Mclean(1)        323,655 10,144,418
Raphael Tham Wai Mun        100,000 -
Feng Bo (2)   - 13,227,274
Frank Chau Leung Yu          50,000 -
Derek Marsh          58,478 -

       532,133    23,371,692 

(1)   John McLean is a director and shareholder of Albany Capital Group Limited which holds 10,144,418 ordinary shares in the 
Company. 

(2)   Feng Bo has a deemed interest in Main World Investments Limited’s holdings of 13,227,274 ordinary shares. Feng Bo is 
the spouse of Fu Guoping who is the sole shareholder of Main World Investments Limited.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
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The Directors’ interests in the Convertible loan notes of the Company at 31 December 2011 and at the date of this report are 
shown below: 

Convertible loan notes A&B 
held

Convertible loan notes 
C held

Director Direct Deemed Direct Deemed
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

John Mclean(1)         50           500          -               25 
Feng Bo(2)          -         1,000          -                -   
Derek Marsh(3)          -               25          -                -   

        50       1,525          -               25 

(1)   John McLean is a director and shareholder of Albany Capital Group Limited which holds the Convertible loan notes A and 
notes C of £500,000 and £25,000 in the Company respectively. 

(2)   Feng Bo has a deemed interest in Main World Investments Limited’s holdings of £1,000,000 Convertible loan notes B. 
Feng Bo is the spouse of Fu Guoping who is the sole shareholder of Main World Investments Limited.

(3)   Derek Marsh has a deemed interest in Frances Marsh’s holdings of £25,000 Convertible loan notes A. Derek Marsh is the 
spouse of Frances Marsh.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
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Introduction

China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) believes that high standards of corporate governance are essential 
to its growth, driving performance, and maximising long-term shareholder value. While the Company is not subject to the 
Corporate Governance Code applicable to companies listed on the Official List, The Company is committed to observing high 
standards of corporate governance.

In this report, we describe the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities with reference to the principles of the 
Quoted Companies Alliance’s Corporate Governance Guidelines. The main features of the Company’s corporate governance 
procedures are as follows:

The Board

The Board effectively leads the Group, provides strategic direction, sets the values and standards for corporate governance and 
oversees the business affairs of the Group. 

The Board meets regularly to review the Group’s operations and performance. Additional meetings are convened to discuss 
matters that require urgent consideration. The Board has defined a schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decision and 
delegates certain powers to the Board committees and to the executive directors, collectively and individually. 

The number of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings held in the current financial year and the attendance of Directors 
at these meetings are as follows:

Attendance Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee

Meetings held 5 2 3

John McLean 5/5 2/2 3/3
Thomas Coley 3/5 2/2 3/3
Raphael Tham Wai Mun 5/5 2/2 3/3
Feng Bo 4/5 N/A N/A
Tang Lin 2/5 N/A N/A
Derek Marsh 2/5 N/A N/A
Frank Chau Leung Yu 2/5 N/A N/A

In addition to the Board meetings held, the Directors also visited operations in China and held discussions with Management on 
different occasions during the year ended 31 December 2011.

The Board comprises five directors, including the non-executive Chairman, three executive directors, and one independent non-
executive director. Notwithstanding that less than one-third of the Board comprises independent Directors, the Board is able to 
exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs, independent from Management. The Board considers the size and composition 
of the Board appropriate for the scope and nature of the Group’s operations. The members of the Board have core competencies 
in various fields including accounting, finance, business management and strategic planning.  The composition of the Board and 
the skills mix are regularly reviewed.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, one third of the Board is required to retire by rotation each year. 

The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate persons to ensure an appropriate balance of power and authority. The 
separation of roles between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer facilitates a healthy exchange of views and opinions 
between the Board and Management. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Committees of the Board

The Board has three established Committees for Audit, Nomination and Remuneration. 

The Audit Committee, chaired by John McLean, meets at least twice a year with the Company’s external auditors present. Its roles 
mainly include the review of the financial statements, internal controls and the scope and cost of the audit, and to receive reports 
from the external auditors. The Committee has full access to, and the co-operation of Management, as well as full discretion to 
invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings. It has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions 
effectively. 

The Nomination Committee, chaired by John McLean, has full power and authority to carry out a formal selection process of 
candidates and then propose new appointments to the Board. 

The Remuneration Committee, chaired by Thomas Coley, is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on 
remuneration policy for directors, including the setting of directors’ salaries and incentive arrangements. The Committee is also 
responsible for recommending the granting of share options to employees. 

Relations with Shareholders

The Board considers it important to communicate a balanced and understandable assessment of the group’s performance 
and prospects to all investors.  The Board maintains frequent contact with institutional investors through regular meetings. 
The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is regarded by the Board as an important opportunity to meet and communicate with 
individual shareholders. Shareholders are given ample time and opportunity at the company’s AGM to express their views 
and put forward their questions to directors or management concerning the Group. The Board welcomes the views of all 
shareholders, and other stakeholders, which in the first instance should be communicated to the Chairman.  

Internal Control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system of internal control, including financial, operational, compliance control 
and risk management, and for reviewing and monitoring its effectiveness. The system of internal control is designed to manage 
and minimise risk, rather than eliminate it. In pursuing these objectives internal controls can only provide a reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

The Group’s system of internal control is designed to assist its business objectives, safeguard the group’s assets, ensure 
compliance with regulation and provide reliable financial information. Regular management meetings review all aspects of 
the Group’s business including any inherent or identified risks. Executive management review the significant risks affecting the 
business and the policies and procedures by which these risks are managed. 

There are established procedures for budgeting and planning capital expenditure, together with the reporting systems for 
monitoring the Group’s business and performance. There is a rolling forecast in place, which is used to assess the financial 
impact of the Group’s strategy, together with a comprehensive budgeting system with an annual budget approved by the Board. 
A monthly report to the Board details the financial performance of the Group for the preceding period versus budget and/or 
forecast.

The external auditors, who are engaged to express an opinion on the Group financial statements, also consider the systems of 
internal financial control to the extent necessary to express that opinion.  External auditors report the results of their work to 
management, including executive members of the Board and the Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Board has adopted the Share Dealing Code for the purpose of compliance with Rule 21 of the AIM Rules and takes steps to 
ensure compliance with that rule by the Group’s employees.

The Board confirms that there is a continuing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risks faced by the Group. 
Through the procedures outlined above, the Board has considered all significant aspects of internal control during the period 
under review and to date.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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We have audited the financial statements of China Food Company plc for the year  ended 31 December 2011 which comprise 
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,  the consolidated and parent 
company statement of financial position, the consolidated and parent company statements of cash flow, the group and parent 
company statements of changes in equity and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as 
regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/
private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion:

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 
December 2011 and of the group’s loss for the year  then ended; 

•	 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;
•	 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Members of China Food Company Plc
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in 
our opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Norman Armstrong
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London
25 May 2012

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Members of China Food Company Plc
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Notes
Year ended 

31 December 2011
Year ended 

31 December 2010
£’000 £’000

Revenue 4 40,227           35,891 
Cost of sales  (31,655)          (28,060)
Gross profit 8,572             7,831 

Other operating income 5 463 9
Selling and marketing costs (5,560) (1,517)
Administrative costs  (2,502) (2,359)
Operating result 973 3,964

Finance costs 6 (1,336) (726)
Finance income 6 25 515
(Loss)/profit before tax 7 (338) 3,753
Taxation 8 (368) (1,434)
(Loss)/profit after tax  (706) 2,319

Earnings per share
- Basic (pence)
- Fully diluted (pence)

9
9

(1.01)
(1.01)

3.49
3.48

 

 There are no discontinued operations.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

(Loss)/profit for the year (706)         2,319 

Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 2,548 2,053
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 2,548 2,053

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent 1,842 4,372

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes
 As at 

31 December 2011 
 As at 

31 December 2010 
 As at 

31 December 2009 
£’000 £’000 £’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10      40,792 39,448 30,702
Land use rights lease prepayments 11        8,411 8,368 7,976
Deferred tax assets        1,311 - -
Total non-current assets      50,514 47,816 38,678 

Current assets
Inventories 12        6,208 3,002 1,331
Land use rights lease prepayments 11           194 190 177
Trade and other receivables 13        4,352 750 420
Cash and cash equivalents 14        6,584 2,918 3,248
Total current assets      17,338 6,860 5,176

Total assets      67,852 54,676 43,854

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15      9,893 7,583 4,418
Bank loans 16        8,702 1,166 2,246
Current portion of convertible loan notes 17        4,276 - -
Current portion of shareholders’ loans 18        1,889 501 440
Current tax payable           315 415 341
Total current liabilities      25,075 9,665 7,445

Net current (liabilities)/assets (7,737) (2,805) (2,269)

Total assets less current liabilities      42,777 45,011 36,409

Non-current liabilities
Bank loan 16  -   2,916 -
Deferred tax liabilities           113 - -
Convertible loan notes 17  -   3,858 2,744
Shareholder’s loan 18             3,769 3,748 3,611

            3,882 10,522 6,355

Net assets           38,895 34,489 30,054

EQUITY
Share capital 19        2,858 2,656 2,656
Share premium 20      24,972 25,678 25,678
PRC statutory reserve        3,581 3,098 2,671
Reverse acquisition reserve (23,992) (23,992) (23,992)
Shares to be issued reserve           300 148 116
Convertible loan notes - equity 17           160 152 121
Foreign exchange translation reserve      10,900 8,352 6,299
Merger reserve        2,216 2,216 2,216
Retained profits      17,900 16,181 14,289

     38,895 34,489 30,054

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 25 May 2012, and signed on their behalf by:

John McLean      
Chairman       

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 2011
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Notes
 As at 

31 December 2011 
 As at 

31 December 2010 
 As at 

31 December 2009 
£’000 £’000 £’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 22 30,684 28,582 28,128

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 13          5 5 9
VAT recoverable        10 13 9
Advance to a subsidiary 25 2,905 1,601 1,546
Amount due from a subsidiary 25 316 156 77
Cash and cash equivalents 14 8 38 161
Total current assets 3,244 1,813 1,802

Total assets 33,928 30,395 29,930
 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 502 425 257
Current portion of convertible loan notes 17 4,276 - -
Current portion of Shareholders’ loan 18 1,291 - -
Total current liabilities 6,069 425 257

Net current assets (2,825) 1,388 1,545

Total assets less current liabilities 27,859 29,970 29,673

Non-current liabilities
Convertible loan notes 17 - 3,858 2,744
Shareholder’s loan 18 542 537 518

542 4,395 3,262

Net assets 27,317 25,575 26,411

EQUITY
Share capital 19 2,858 2,656 2,656
Share premium 20 5,331 6,037 6,037
Shares to be issued reserve 300 148 116
Merger relief reserve 18,553 18,553 18,553
Convertible loan notes - equity 17 160 152 121
Accumulated losses 115 (1,971) (1,072)

27,317 25,575 26,411

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 25 May 2012, and signed on their behalf by:
   
John McLean      
Chairman       

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Year ended
 31 December 2011

Year ended
 31 December 2010

 £’000  £ ‘000
Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit before tax (338) 3,753
Adjustments for:

Depreciation 1,264 368
Amortisation of land use rights lease prepayments 189 187
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment 
and land use right (449) 

6

Employee share options 152 32
Finance costs 1,336 726
Finance income (25) (515)

Operating profit before working capital changes 2,129 4,557
Changes in working capital:

Inventories (3,206) (1,671)
Trade and other receivables (2,758) (330)
Trade and other payables 2,093 645

Cash (outflow)/generated from operations (1,742) 3,201
Interest received 25 22
Income taxes paid (1,613) (1,385)

Net cash (outflow)/generated from operating activities (3,330) 1,838

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (744) (4,400)
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 45 11

Net cash generated/(outflow) from investing activities (699) (4,389)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank loan 4,147 3,442
Repayment of bank loan - (1,797)
Net cash proceeds from issue of ordinary shares of CFC 2,497 -
Proceeds from / (repayment of ) shareholders’ loan 1,396 -
Net cash flow arising from convertible loan notes 240 995
Interest paid (797) (436)
Dividend paid (93) -

Net cash generated from financing activities 7,390 2,204

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,361 (347)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 305 17
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 2,918 3,248
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 6,584 2,918

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2011



34

CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC

Notes
Year ended

 31 December 2011
Year ended

31 December 2010
 £’000  £’000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation         (821) (899)

Adjustments for:
Employee share options           152 32
Finance costs           534 429
Finance income             (6) (34)

Operating profit before working capital changes         (141) (472)
Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables         (150) (44)
Trade and other payables             16 191

Cash used in operations         (275) (325)
Interest received - -

Net cash used in operating activities         (275) (325)

Cash flows from investing activities
Advance to a subsidiary      (2,102) (454)

Net cash used in investing activities      (2,102) (454)

Cash flows from financing activities
Advance to subsidiary      (1,294) -
Proceed from shareholder’s loan        1,294 -
Proceeds from convertible loan notes 23.1           250 1,130
Payment of transaction costs 23.2           (10) (135)
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary shares        2,496 -
Interest paid         (288) (302)
Dividend paid           (93) -

Net cash generated from financing activities        2,355 693

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents           (22) (86)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes             (8) (37)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period             38 161
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period               8 38

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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hare 
capital

Share
 premium

Shares to 
be issued 

reserve

Reverse
 acquisition

 reserve
Merger 
reserve

PRC 
statutory
reserves

Convertible 
loan notes - 

equity

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserve

Retained
 profits

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners of 

the parent

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 2011 2,656 25,678 148  (23,992) 2,216 3,098 152 8,352 16,181 34,489 

Employee share options
   Granted   -   -   152  -                  -   -       -   -   -   152 

Transfer to PRC statutory
   Reserves   -   -     -    -                  -              483     -   -         (483) -   

Issue of ordinary shares 202 2,294 - - - - - - - 2,496

Capital reduction (3,000) - - - - - - 3,000

Convertible loan notes –
   Equity   -   -     -    -                  -       -              8 -   -           8 

Dividend paid   -   -     -    -                  -       -              - -   (93) (93)

Transactions with owners 202  (706) 152 -   -   483 8 -   2,424 2,563 

Profit for the period -   -   -    -   -   -   -   -    (706)  (706)

Other comprehensive
   income:

Exchange differences on
  translation of foreign 
  operations   -   -     -    -                  -       -       -   2,548 -   2,548 

Total comprehensive 
  income for the period   -   -     -    -                  -       -       -   2,548  (706) 1,842 

Rounding adjustment   -   -     -    -                  -       -       -    -               1   1   

As at 31 December 2011 2,858 24,972 300  (23,992) 2,216 3,581 160 10,900 17,900 38,895 

As at 1 January 2010     2,656   25,678 116   (23,992)   2,216     2,671            121     6,299   14,289    30,054 

Employee share options
   Granted   -   -   32  -                  -   -       -   -   -   32 

Transfer to PRC statutory
   Reserves   -   -     -    -                  -              427     -   -         (427) -   

Convertible loan notes –
   Equity   -   -     -    -                  -       -              31 -   -           31 

Transactions with owners        - - 32   -   -         427 31 -   (427)    63

Profit for the period   -   -     -    -                  -       -       -   -       2,319      2,319 

Other comprehensive 
income:

Exchange differences on
   translation of foreign 
   operations   -   -     -    -                  -       -       -      2,053 -   2,053

Total comprehensive 
  income for the period   -   -     -    -                  -       -       -      2,053 2,319   4,372

As at 31 December 2010        2,656   25,678 148   (23,992)   2,216         3,098            152 8,352   16,181 34,489 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Share 
capital

Share
 premium

Shares to 
be issued 

reserve

Merger 
relief 

reserve

Convertible 
loan notes - 

equity
Accumulated

 losses 

Total equity 
attributable to
 owners of the

 parent
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 2011 2,656 6,037 148 18,553 152  (1,971) 25,575 

Employee share options 
granted -   -   152 -   -       -   152 

Issue of ordinary shares 202 2,294 -   -   -       -   2,496 

Capital reduction -    (3,000) -   -   -   3,000 -   

Convertible loan notes - 
equity -   -   -   -   8     -   8 

Dividend paid -   -   -   -   -    (93)  (93)

Transactions with owners 202  (706) 152 -   8 2,907 2,563 

Loss for the period -   -   -   -   -    (821)  (821)

As at 31 December 2011 2,858 5,331 300 18,553 160 115 27,317 

As at 1 January 2010        2,656     6,037           116    18,553            121        (1,072)    26,411 

Employee share options 
granted   -   -               32  -       -       -             32

Convertible loan notes - 
equity   -   -     -    -              31     -   31

Transactions with owners        -     - 32    -            31           -    63 

Loss for the period -   -   -   -   -    (899)  (899)

As at 31 December 2010        2,656     6,037           148    18,553            152        (1,971)    25,575 

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

1. General Information 

 Principal activities of China Food Company Plc (“China Food” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) include 
the development, manufacture and distribution of cooking and dipping sauces and animal feed products. The Group’s 
main operations are in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). 

 China Food, a public limited company, is the Group’s ultimate parent company. It is incorporated and domiciled in the 
United Kingdom. The address of China Food’s registered office is 49 Whitehall, London SW1A2BX. China Food’s shares are 
listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. 

2. Changes in accounting policies

 Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 
early by the Group.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to 
existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for the 
first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards, amendments and 
interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements is provided below. Certain other new 
standards and interpretations have been issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

The following is a list of newly issued standards but not yet effective:

- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective 1 January 2015) 
- IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Revised June 2011) (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IAS 27 (Revised), Separate Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IAS 28 (Revised), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (effective 1 January 2013) 
- Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets - Amendments to IFRS 7 (effective 1 July 2011) 
- Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets - Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes (effective 1 January 2012) 
- Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income - Amendments to IAS 1 (effective 1 July 2012) 
- Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IFRS 7 (effective 1 January 2013) 
- Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities - Amendments to IAS 32 (effective 1 January 2014) 
- Mandatory Effective Date and Transition Disclosures - Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (effective 1 January 2015) 
- Government Loans - Amendments to IFRS 1 (effective 1 January 2013) 
- IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (effective 1 January 2013)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

 The principal accounting policies of the Group are set out below.

3.1 Going Concern

 The Group statement of financial position shows net current liabilities as at 31 December 2011, but notwithstanding this 
the Directors consider it to be appropriate to prepare these financial statements under the going concern basis.

The directors have reviewed forecasts and budgets for the coming year, which have been drawn up with appropriate 
regard for the current macroeconomic environment and the particular circumstances in which the Group operates. 
These were prepared with reference to historic and current industry knowledge, taking future strategy of the Group 
into account. New funds were raised in the year through a new share issuance (net proceeds £2.5 million), a further 
convertible loan notes issuance (net proceeds £240,000) and additional loans from shareholders (net proceeds £1.4 
million), which enabled the Group launch the new Xaka product.  The new product was officially launched in October 
2011 during the bi-annual China Food Fair in Shenyang City, Liaoning Province. The Group secured two new bank loans 
of RMB 43 million or £4.1 million from the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited and Bank of Communications 
Co., Ltd to meet its expansion requirements while the existing operations have been generating funds to meet the 
Group’s short-term cash requirements.  At 31 December 2011 the Group cash balance was £6.6 million.  
 
On 14 February 2012, the Company signed a memorandum of understanding with an international animal feed 
provider to sell 100% of feed business. The net proceeds from the sale of feed business will be used to repay debt. This 
is an important step both in significantly reducing our debt level and also in allowing management to focus on the 
condiments business.   As highlighted on Note 17 to the financial statements, the existing convertible loan notes A&B and 
convertible loan note C mature on the 2 November 2012 and 14 June 2012, respectively. The repayment/conversion of 
the loan notes is dependent on the performance of the Group.

As a result of these considerations, at the time of approving the financial statements, the directors consider that the 
Company and the Group have sufficient resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, and 
accordingly, that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements.

3.2 Presentation of financial statements

 The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
(Revised 2007). The Group has elected to present the ‘Statement of comprehensive income’ in two statements: the 
‘Income statement’ and a ‘Statement of comprehensive income’. 

Two comparative periods are required to be presented for the statement of financial position when the Group:

(i) applies an accounting policy retrospectively,
(ii) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial statements, or
(iii) reclassifies items in the financial statements.

As good practice two comparative periods are presented despite none of the above conditions applying for 2011.

3.3 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of all the entities within the Group. The financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting date as the parent company. Consistent accounting 
policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
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3.3 Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the individual financial statements of the company have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the EU and under the 
historical cost convention. The measurement bases are set out below. 

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

 (a) Reverse acquisition accounting

In December 2007, the company successfully completed the acquisition of Full Fortune and its subsidiaries by an 
issuance of 40,333,333 new ordinary shares of the company and cash consideration of £5,000,000. 

Due to the relative values of the companies, the former Full Fortune shareholders became majority shareholders 
with 60.74 per cent. of the enlarged ordinary share capital in China Food, and hence hold the majority of the 
voting rights. Further, the executive management of Full Fortune Group became that of China Food and the 
Corporate Headquarters of the Group was moved to the Full Fortune premises in Singapore. A qualitative and 
quantitative analysis of these factors led the Directors to conclude that in this transaction Full Fortune has the 
controlling interest and should be treated as the accounting acquirer.

In determining the appropriate accounting treatment for the reverse acquisition, the Directors considered the 
Application Supplement to IFRS 3, Business Combinations. However, they concluded that this transaction fell 
outside of the scope of IFRS 3, since China Food, whose activities prior to the acquisition were limited to the 
management of cash resources and the maintenance of its listing, did not constitute a business.  It was therefore 
determined that the transaction should be accounted for in a manner that was similar to the reverse accounting 
as described in IFRS 3, but without recognising goodwill. 

In accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, in developing an 
appropriate accounting policy the Directors have considered the pronouncements of other standard-setting 
bodies and specifically looked to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US 
GAAP”) for guidance (FAS 141, Business Combinations). 

Under US GAAP, in a reverse acquisition, the target company (Full Fortune) is treated as the acquiring company for 
financial reporting purposes (no purchase accounting adjustments) and the fair value of the issuing company’s 
common shares (China Food) is recognised, together with adjustments necessary to reflect the net tangible 
and identifiable intangible assets at their fair value with any remainder assigned to goodwill (full application of 
purchase accounting).

Under US GAAP such a transaction is treated as an equity issuance by the operating entity (in this case Full 
Fortune). As a result, the cost of the combination is deemed to equal the net monetary assets of the acquiree 
(China Food) plus transaction costs.  Only costs incurred by the “target” company can be capitalised.

As a consequence of applying the reverse acquisition accounting policy described, a reverse acquisition reserve 
was created (see note 3.15). 
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(b) Business combinations involving entities under common control

For the purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the creation of the Full Fortune Group under the 
restructuring exercise before the completion of the reverse acquisition was treated as a business combination 
involving entities under common control. A business combination is a “common control combination” if the 
combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same party (including the same individual shareholder or a 
group of shareholders acting together in accordance with a contractual arrangement) both before and after the 
combination and the common control is not transitory. 

Business combinations involving entities under common control fall outside the scope of IFRS 3: Business 
Combinations. In accordance with IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, 
management have considered the pronouncements of other standard-setting bodies in developing an 
accounting policy for common control combinations, in particular the pooling of interest-type method prescribed 
under US GAAP in paragraphs D11 to D18 of SFAS 141, Business Combinations. As a result, the Full Fortune 
Group accounts for business combinations involving entities under common control using pooling of interest-
type accounting. Under this policy the assets and liabilities of the acquiree are recorded at book value not fair 
value (although adjustments are made to achieve uniform accounting policies), intangible assets and contingent 
liabilities are recognised only to the extent that they were recognised by the acquiree in accordance with 
applicable IFRS, no goodwill is recorded, any expenses of the combination are written off immediately in the 
income statement and comparative amounts are restated as if the combination had taken place at the beginning 
of the earliest comparative period presented.

(c) Subsidiary undertakings

 As at 31 December 2010 and 2011, China Food had the following subsidiaries:

Name of subsidiary
Date and place of 
establishment

Percentage 
of equity 

attributable to 
China Food Principal activities

Full Fortune Holdings Pte Ltd 26 May 2005
Singapore

100% Holding company

Held by Full Fortune

Fuss Feed (Weifang) Co., Ltd
(“Fuss Feed”) 
富氏饲料(潍坊)有限公司

28 November 1994
PRC

100% Manufacture and sale of 
animal feed

Fortune Food (China) Co., Ltd
(“Fortune Food”)
富氏食品（中国）有限公司

24 June 2005
PRC

100% Manufacture and sales of 
condiments

Held by Fuss Feed

Shandong Fu-Rich Co., Ltd 
(“Fu-Rich”)
山东富氏味业有限公司

7 August 2001
PRC

100% Manufacture and sale of 
condiments

 
All of the above subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements.
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3.3 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d) Investments

 Investments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost, less provisions for diminution in carrying value. 
 

3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments

 Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgments are made in the preparation of the financial statements. 
They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, and disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 Critical judgments 

 The judgments made which, in the opinion of the Directors, are critical in drawing up the financial statements are as 
follows:

(i) Accounting for the reverse acquisition transaction

 As explained in note 3.3 (a), the Directors are of the opinion that this transaction fell outside of the scope of IFRS 
3, and as such they needed to devise an appropriate accounting policy by reference to the pronouncements of 
other standard-setting bodies.  The judgment taken was that US GAAP provides the most appropriate basis in this 
case, and the accounting policy note sets out the accounting implications of following this approach.

(ii) Accounting for the Full Fortune business combination

 As explained in note 3.3 (b), the Directors are of the opinion that this transaction fell outside of the scope of IFRS 
3, and as such they needed to devise an appropriate accounting policy by reference to the pronouncements of 
other standard-setting bodies. The judgment taken was that US GAAP provides the most appropriate basis in this 
case, and the accounting policy note sets out the accounting implications of following this approach.

(iii) Classification of Land Use Rights as Operating Leases

Within the PRC it is the practice for the State to issue Land Use Rights to individuals or entities. Such rights are 
evidenced through the granting of a Land Use Rights certificate, which gives the holder the right to use the land 
(including the construction of buildings thereon) for a given length of time. An upfront payment is made for these 
rights. The Directors judge that the substance of these arrangements is an operating lease over the land, and that 
the upfront payment represents prepaid lease rentals. As such a prepayment is recognised in the balance sheet, 
analysed between current and non-current assets. The prepayment is amortised to spread the lease cost over the 
duration of the term of the land use rights, as specified in the lease certificate. See also notes 3.7 and 11.
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3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

(iv) Functional currency of China Food Company PLC
 

The Company is incorporated in England and Wales.  The registered office is 49 Whitehall, London and the 
Company’s shares are listed on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  Certain of the Directors are 
based in the UK and remunerated through this Company.  The UK head office has responsibility for corporate 
functions such as fund raising, treasury, company secretarial and other aspects in relation to maintaining the AIM 
listing.  The company incurs costs in respect of these activities which are denominated in GBP, and are sufficiently 
significant for the Directors to be satisfied that the Company operates as an entity in its own right as envisaged 
under IAS 21.  In turn it levies a management fee to its subsidiaries in respect of services performed.  As such the 
Directors conclude that the functional currency of the Company is GBP.

(v) Accounting treatment for animal feed business

 Management has considered as to whether a disposal group existed as per IFRS5 ‘Non-Current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations”.  As at the year end, the intention was to sell the feed business, however it 
was unclear as to whether the business could be sold in its current form as a new plant was being constructed.  
The new plant was approximately 50% complete at year end and is due to be completed in July 2012.  The 
expectation is that the business could then be sold after the plant is completed.  In management’s judgement, 
the conditions of IFRS 5 had not been met as the assets could not be sold in their present form. As such, the feed 
business has been treated as a continuing operation as at 31 December 2011. The prepaid construction cost for 
the new animal feed plant were treated as current assets in the balance sheet, as the Company expects to sell the 
completed asset in 2012. It would not be appropriate to treat this as a non-current asset as the Company does not 
intend to use the factory in the business.

(vi) Account for deferred income taxes

 As disclosed in Note 3.21 (b), the Directors are of the opinion that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available in the future years to be utilised against the deductible temporary differences.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date 
are discussed below.  These are included for completeness, although it is the Directors’ view that none of these have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year.  

(i) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

 The Group evaluates whether items of property, plant and equipment have suffered any impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable, in 
accordance with the stated accounting policy. Under the requirements of IAS 36, Impairment of Assets, when the 
marker capitalisation of an entity exceeds the net assets of that entity, this is considered to be an indicator of 
impairment.  Therefore an impairment review has been undertaken in accordance with IAS 36.  The recoverable 
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations 
require the use of estimates which are explained in note 10. The carrying amounts of these assets are disclosed in 
note 10.
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3.4 Significant accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

 (ii) Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

 The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. 
Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to be within 2 to 20 years. These 
are common life expectancies applied in the industry in which the Group operates. Changes in the expected level 
of usage and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these 
assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

3.5 Functional and foreign currency

(a) Foreign currency transactions

 Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of China Food and its 
subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates approximating 
those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the closing rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
balance sheet date are recognised in the income statement except for exchange differences arising on monetary 
items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, which are charged/credited to other 
comprehensive income and recognised in the currency translation reserve in the consolidated balance sheet and 
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account on disposal of the subsidiary.

(b) Foreign currency translations
  
 The results and financial position of foreign operations are translated into the presentational currency of China 

Food (GBP) using the following procedures:

•	 Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing exchange rate ruling at 
the balance sheet date; and

•	 Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates for the year, 
which approximate the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

 All resulting exchange differences are charged/credited through other comprehensive income and recognised in 
the currency translation reserve.

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and 
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
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3.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful life of the asset as follows:

•	 Buildings   – 20 years
•	 Plant and machinery  – 10 years
•	 Equipment   – 2 - 5 years
•	 Motor vehicles  – 5 years

 Depreciation of the production facilities of the new soya sauce factory is computed based on its production 
capacity.  This includes the plant and machinery and certain storage buildings where usage fluctuates according 
to capacity of output.  A number of these storage units currently remain unused.  This will match the economic 
consumption of the asset with the depreciation charge during the start up phase of the new factory where the plant is 
only 27% productive. A unit of production method is therefore applied.  Management has determined the number of 
units the relevant assets will handle during its economic life and depreciation has been applied accordingly.

 Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less any 
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing 
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the 
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for use. 

 The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

 
 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end to ensure that the 

amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the income 
statement in the year the asset is derecognised. 

3.7  Leased assets

 In accordance with IAS 17 Leases, the economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee if the lessee bears 
substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of the leased asset, with the related asset recognised at 
the time of inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease 
payments plus incidental payments, if any, to be borne by the lessee, and with a corresponding amount recognised as a 
finance leasing liability. On such leases, the interest element of leasing payments represents a constant proportion of the 
capital balance outstanding and is charged to the income statement over the period of the lease.

 All other leases are regarded as operating leases and the payments made under them are charged to the income 
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are spread over the term of the lease.

 The land use rights held by the Group are regarded as operating leases. The amounts paid for these rights are treated as 
lease prepayments and are amortised over the period for which the rights have been granted in accordance with the land 
use rights certificate.
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3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount.

 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the 
income statement as ‘impairment losses’.

3.9 Financial assets

 Financial assets are assigned to the different categories on initial recognition, depending on the characteristics of the 
instrument and its purpose. All financial assets of the Group are classified as loans and receivables. 

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment losses. Any change in their value is recognised in the income statement.

 Significant receivables are considered for impairment on a case-by-case basis when they are past due at the balance 
sheet date or when objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. All other receivables are 
reviewed for impairment in groups, which are determined by reference to the industry and region of a counterparty and 
other available features of shared credit risk characteristics, if any. The percentage of the write down is then based on 
recent historical counterparty default rates for each identified group.

3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

3.11 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired.

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 

 The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is 
recognised in the income statement. 

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any 
subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of 
the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
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3.12 Derecognition of financial assets

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

3.13 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion 
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

3.14 Financial liabilities

 Financial liabilities include trade and other payables, payables to related parties and interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings. Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when, the Group becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value of 
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

 Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expired.

 Convertible loan notes

Convertible loan notes issued by the Group are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component 
and an equity component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing 
market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible 
loan notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component, representing the embedded option to convert the 
liability into equity of the Group, is included in equity.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the convertible loan notes based on their 
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged directly against 
equity.

The interest expense on the liability component is calculated by applying the prevailing market interest rate for similar 
non-convertible debt to the liability component of the instrument. The difference between this amount and the interest 
paid is added to the carrying amount of the convertible loan note.

3.15 Equity

 For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the share capital represents the 
nominal value of the issued share capital of China Food. Share premium represents the excess over nominal value of the 
fair value of consideration received for equity shares, net of expenses of the share issue.

 For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the merger reserve represents 
the combined paid-up registered capital of the subsidiaries of Full Fortune less the payment made by Fuss Feed for the 
acquisition of Fu-Rich. It arises as a result of adopting the pooling of interest-type accounting method described in note 
3.3(b).
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3.15 Equity (continued)

 The PRC statutory reserves comprise the capital reserves and the surplus reserves of the subsidiaries of Full Fortune 
established in the PRC which were set up in accordance with their respective articles of association and the relevant PRC 
laws and regulations.

The shares to be issued reserve represents equity-settled share-based payments until such share options are exercised.

The reverse acquisition reserve arises as a result of following the accounting method described in note 3.3(a) in respect of 
the RTO completed in 2007.

Foreign currency translation reserve represents the differences arising from translation of investments in overseas 
subsidiaries.

3.16 Share-based payments

All share-based payment arrangements are recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the period in which 
the associated goods or services are provided. 

The Group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for its employees. None of the Group’s plans feature 
any options for a cash settlement.

All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair values. 
Where employees are rewarded using share-based payments, the fair values of employees’ services are determined 
indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. This fair value is appraised at the grant date 
and excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions.

All share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding credit 
to “Shares to be issued reserve”. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the 
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options expected to vest. Non-market 
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. 
Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number of share options expected to vest differs 
from previous estimates. Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting is recognised in the current period. No adjustment 
is made to any expense recognised in prior periods if share options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on 
vesting.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs up to the nominal 
value of the shares issued are allocated to share capital with any excess being recorded as share premium. All goods and 
services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are measured at their fair values at the date the 
services are provided by reference to the fair value of the services provided.

3.17 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs are 
being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.
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3.18 Employee benefits - Defined contribution plans

Full Fortune, a Singapore incorporated company, makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in 
Singapore, a defined contribution pension scheme.

As stipulated by the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group contribute to state-sponsored 
retirement plans for their employees in the PRC at rates of 20% of the basic salaries of their employees, and have no 
further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits. The state-sponsored retirement plans 
are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees.

The pensions costs charged against profits are the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the accounting 
period.

3.19 Segment reporting

 In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines, which represent the main 
products and services provided by the Group. The activities undertaken by the condiments segment include the sale of 
cooking and dipping sauces. The activities undertaken by the animal feed segment include the sale of animal feed. Each of 
these operating segments is managed separately as each of these service lines requires different technologies and other 
resources as well as marketing approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

 The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under IFRS 8 are the same as those used in its financial 
statements, except that expenses relating to share-based payments are not included in arriving at the operating profit 
of the operating segments. In addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of 
any operating segment are not allocated to a segment. In the financial periods under review, this primarily applies to the 
Group’s headquarters.

 There have been no changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to determine reported segment 
profit or loss.  No assymetrical allocations have been applied between segments.

3.20 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

(a) the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
(b) the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership 

nor effective control over the goods sold;
(c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
(d) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;
(e) the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

 For both the Feed and Condiments businesses these conditions are considered to have been satisfied when the customer 
either collects or takes delivery of the goods.

 Interest income is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method) unless collectibility is in doubt.
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3.21 Taxes

(a) Current tax

 Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

(b) Deferred tax

 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for 
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the years when the liability is settled or the asset realised.

(c) Sales tax

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

•	 Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.

 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

 
4. Revenue

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended
 31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Animal feed 23,337 21,215 

Condiments 16,890 14,676 
Total sales of goods 40,227 35,891
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5. Other operating income

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Sundry income 463 9

 Other operating income in 2011 included £ 456,000 gain on disposal of land use right and fixed assets of Fuss Feed 
(please see note 11).

6. Finance income and finance costs

 Finance income and costs include all interest-related income and expenses. The following amounts have been included in 
the income statement line for the reporting periods presented:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000
Loans and receivables:
   - Cash and short-term deposits           25           22 
Gain on foreign currency financial liabilities -   493 
Finance income   25  515

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Interest expense for bank borrowings at amortised cost
       
509 

       
135 

Interest expense on shareholder’s loan
Interest expense on convertible loan

         216
   474

         189
   402

Loss on foreign currency financial liabilities 137 -
Finance costs        1.336       726
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7. Profit before tax

 Group

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Profit before tax is arrived at after charging: £’000 £’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
- Buildings 810 216
- Plant and machinery 368 92
- Equipment 27 19
- Motor vehicles 59 41

 1,264  368

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant, equipment and land use 
right

(449) 6

Amortisation of land use rights lease prepayment 189 187
Cost of inventories expensed 31,655 28,060

Auditors’ remuneration:
Payable to the company’s auditors:
-   audit of the consolidated financial statements        40           39 
Payable to the company’s auditors and its associates for other 
services:
-   audit of the financial statements of the company’s subsidiaries 

pursuant to Legislation 79 68
Payable to the PRC auditors 1 1

 Average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive directors) during the year:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Production 382 380
Sales and marketing 368 294
Administration 108 115

858 789

 In accordance with the Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the company has not presented its individual income 
statement. The result for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 was a loss of £821,000 (2010: loss of £899,000).
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 8. Income tax

 The major components of income tax expense are as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000
Current income tax
Provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax 1,497 1,434
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax of Fortune Food
Deferred income tax of Fuss Feed

(1,235)
106

Income tax expense recognised in the income statement 368 1,434

 China Food is subject to a United Kingdom Tax rate of 28% (2010: 28%).

Full Fortune is subject to a Singapore Income Tax rate of 17% (2010:17%).  As Full Fortune has no trading income, the 
expenses incurred cannot be carried forward as tax losses.

Fuss Feed is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%).

Fu-Rich is subject to a PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%).

Fortune Food is subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax of 12.5% (2010: 12.5%). 

(b) A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable corporate 
tax rates is as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Accounting (loss)/profit before tax (338) 3,753

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits / losses in 
the countries concerned (see above)

(28) 945

Adjustments:
- Non-deductible expenses 1 7
- Unrelieved tax losses 395 481
- Over provision 1
Income tax expense recognised in the income 
statement 368 1,434

The deferred tax asset recognised for the year was £1.3 million calculated on the basis of net loss of Fortune Food 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the years when the deferred income tax asset will be realised. The 
deferred tax liability recognised was £113,000 calculated on the basis of net profit of disposal of Fuss Feed’s land 
use right and the plant on top of the land which is not a taxable income for the year. 

The group has estimated losses of £5.7 million available to carry forward for which no deferred tax has been 
recognised as the group continues to investigate mechanisms to relieve trading profits against losses generated 
elsewhere in the group outside Mainland China.
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8. Income tax (continued)

The Company has unutilised tax losses of estimated £1,689,000 available to carry forward. Management is 
presently reviewing the group’s tax position and expects to crystalise this asset going forward.

9. Earnings per share and dividends

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

(Loss)/profit after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders (£’000) (706) 2,319

(Loss)/profit after tax and earnings attributable to ordinary 
shareholders for  calculation of diluted earnings (£’000)

(706) 2,665

Weighted average number of shares (used for basic earnings per 
share)

69,764,645 66,399,991

Dilutive effect - 10,148,880
Dilutive weighted average number of shares (used for dilutive 
earnings per share) 69,764,645 76,548,871

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (pence) (1.01) 3.49

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (pence) (1.01) 3.48
Dividend per share (pence) 0.13

Earnings per share has been calculated on 69,764,645 shares (2010: 66,399,991 shares), and on attributable earnings of 
-£706,000 (2010: £2,319,000). 

Diluted earnings per share has been calculated on 69,764,645 shares (2010: 76,548,871 shares), and on fully diluted 
earnings of -£706,000 (2010: £2,665,000). 

The warrant granted to Strand Partners to subscribe 1,328,000 shares (2009: 1,328,000 shares) at £0.50 per share (see note 
21.2.2), the share options granted to employees to subscribe 4,648,000 shares (2009: 4,648,000) at £0.355 per share (see 
note 21.2.1), and the convertible loan notes A&B issued (see note 17) have dilution effect on the calculation of the diluted 
earnings per share as the market price of the Company’s shares was higher than the exercise prices and conversion price 
at 31 December 2010.
 
In May 2011, the Company granted 1,950,000 share options to the directors and employees (see note 21.2.1). There was 
no dilutive effect on the calculation of the diluted earnings per share from the fore-mentioned warrant, share options and 
convertible loans as the market price of the Company’s shares was lower than the exercise prices and conversion price at 
31 December 2011.

£93,000 dividend was proposed for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil) and distributed in November 2011.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Buildings
Construction 

in progress
Plant and 

machineries Equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost       
As at 
1 January 2009 5,014 25,223 1,162 130 316 31,845
Additions 1 4,215 32 26 - 4,274
Disposal  - - (5) (3)  -  (8)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (480) (2,534) (112) (13) (31) (3,170)
As at
31 December 2009 4,535 26,904 1,077 140 285 32,941
Additions - 5 6,606 50 120 6,781
Transfers 18,794 (28,394) 9,600 - - -
Disposal  - - (34) (8)  (10)  (52)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 646 1,490 349 12 23 2,520
As at
31 December 2010 23,975 5 17,598 194 418 42,190
Additions - 565 67 113 745
Disposal (343) (5) (47) (14) (72) (481)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,255 - 969 13 25 2,262
As at
31 December 2011 24,887 - 19,085 260 484 44,716

Accumulated depreciation
As at 
1 January 2009 1,357 

  
-   506 91 159 2,113

Charge for the year 210   -   88 12 32 342
Written back on disposal - - (3) (2)  -  (5)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (135)       -   (51) (9) (16) (211)
As at
31 December 2009 1,432 

  
-   540 92 175 2,239

Charge for the year 216   -   92 19 41 368
Written back on disposal - - (19) (7) (9)  (35)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 107       -   41 8 14 170
As at 
31 December 2010 1,755

  
-   654 112 221 2,742

Charge for the year 810 - 368 27 59 1,264
Written back on disposal (203) - (35) (12) (37) (287)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 130 - 55 7 13 205
As at 
31 December 2011 2,492 - 1,042 134 256 3,924

     
Net book value      
As at 
31 December 2011 22,395 - 18,043 126 228 40,792
As at 
31 December 2010 22,220 5 16,944 82 197 39,448
As at
31 December 2009 3,103 26,904 537 48 110 30,702
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10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

 As at 31 December 2011 the buildings with net book values of £15,045,000 were pledged as security for the bank loans 
(2010: £9,608,000 and 2009: £2,723,000) (note 16).

 For the purpose of impairment testing, non-financial assets have been grouped in accordance with the business 
segments identified. In consideration of the relatively smaller proportion of the non-financial assets attributable to the 
feed segment and also in discussions regarding its disposal at a sum in excess of carrying value, only the condiment 
segment has been tested for impairment. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit was determined based on 
value-in-use calculations, covering a detailed five-year forecast, followed by an extrapolation of expected cash flows for 
the unit’s remaining useful lives using the growth rate of 5% per annum onwards Since China is predicted to grow at 7.5% 
and growth is expected to continue, so to use 5% as the growth rate per annum is reasonable. These forecasts reflect 
expectations as to the cash flows that will be generated after the new manufacturing facility is brought into operation 
since 2011.  A discount rate of 14.2% has been used for this calculation. No impairment loss has been identified as a result 
of this review. 

 Apart from the considerations described in determining the value in use of the cash-generating unit described above, 
management is not currently aware of any other probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key estimates.  

11.  Land use rights lease prepayments

  Group

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

Year ended 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Net book value as at 1 January 8,558 8,153                 9,214 
Amortisation of payments over lease term (189)  (187)  (182)
Disposal (278) - -
Written back on amortisation 81 - -
Foreign currency translation difference 433  592   (879) 
Net book value as at 31 December 8,605                 8,558 8,153 

Of which:
   Current 194 190  177  
   Non-current 8,411 8,368   7,976 

8,605                 8,558                8,153 
 
 The Group’s land use rights lease prepayments are being amortised straight-line over 45 to 50 year terms. 

 As at 31 December 2011 the land use rights lease prepayments with net book values of £7,595,000 were pledged as 
security for the bank loans (2010: £3,051,000 and 2009: £2,964,000) (note 16).

 In December 2011, Fuss Feed disposed its land use right and the plant on top of the land. The company recognised a 
profit of £456,000 on this disposal.

10. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Buildings
Construction 

in progress
Plant and 

machineries Equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost       
As at 
1 January 2009 5,014 25,223 1,162 130 316 31,845
Additions 1 4,215 32 26 - 4,274
Disposal  - - (5) (3)  -  (8)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (480) (2,534) (112) (13) (31) (3,170)
As at
31 December 2009 4,535 26,904 1,077 140 285 32,941
Additions - 5 6,606 50 120 6,781
Transfers 18,794 (28,394) 9,600 - - -
Disposal  - - (34) (8)  (10)  (52)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 646 1,490 349 12 23 2,520
As at
31 December 2010 23,975 5 17,598 194 418 42,190
Additions - 565 67 113 745
Disposal (343) (5) (47) (14) (72) (481)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,255 - 969 13 25 2,262
As at
31 December 2011 24,887 - 19,085 260 484 44,716

Accumulated depreciation
As at 
1 January 2009 1,357 

  
-   506 91 159 2,113

Charge for the year 210   -   88 12 32 342
Written back on disposal - - (3) (2)  -  (5)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (135)       -   (51) (9) (16) (211)
As at
31 December 2009 1,432 

  
-   540 92 175 2,239

Charge for the year 216   -   92 19 41 368
Written back on disposal - - (19) (7) (9)  (35)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 107       -   41 8 14 170
As at 
31 December 2010 1,755

  
-   654 112 221 2,742

Charge for the year 810 - 368 27 59 1,264
Written back on disposal (203) - (35) (12) (37) (287)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 130 - 55 7 13 205
As at 
31 December 2011 2,492 - 1,042 134 256 3,924

     
Net book value      
As at 
31 December 2011 22,395 - 18,043 126 228 40,792
As at 
31 December 2010 22,220 5 16,944 82 197 39,448
As at
31 December 2009 3,103 26,904 537 48 110 30,702
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12. Inventories

 Group

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Raw materials        1,100 1,176 882
Work-in-progress           4,419 1,555 241
Finished goods           689 271 208

       6,208 3,002 1,331

13. Trade and other receivables

 Group

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade receivables                543 554 346
Other receivables             1,948 162 51
Prepaid construction cost 1,725 - -
Prepayments 127 21 14
VAT recoverable   9 13 9

            4,352 750 420

 Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest bearing. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which 
represent their fair values on initial recognition less provision for impairment where this is required. No provision for 
impairment has been recorded in 2011 or 2010. Past due not impaired balances are not material. All trade receivables are 
denominated in RMB.

 The increase of other receivables is mainly due to the prepaid deposit to the TV advertising agency for the promotion of 
the new product, Xaka.

 As at December 31, 2011  RMB 16,857,000had been paid for the construction of the new animal feed plant.  This balance 
has been treated as a current asset in prepayments as the Company expects to sell the completed asset in 2012. It would 
not be appropriate to treat this as a non-current asset as the Company does not intend to use the factory in the business. 
(See note 30)

 
 Company

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Other receivables 2 2 -

Prepayments 3 3 9

5 5 9 



57

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

14. Cash and bank balances

Group

The cash and bank balances of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

RMB             6,573 2,760 2,748
SGD   1 5 77
GBP 10 153 423

            6,584 2,918 3,248

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

The conversion of RMB denominated cash and bank balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of these funds 
out of the PRC is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

Company

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

GBP 8 38 161

15. Trade and other payables

 Group

As at 
 31 December 2011

As at 
 31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade payables  3,889        2,817        2,414
Other payables    
- Bills payable  2,355        680        362 
- Amount due to a related party  11           10           49 
- Others              1,153           2,634           429 
Accrued expenses              1,587 1,452 1,164 
Receipts in advance                 898 - - 

           9,893 7,583 4,418

 Trade and other payables are unsecured and non-interest bearing. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts 
which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

 The amount due to a related party as at 31 December 2011 represents the amount due to Mr Fu Guoping who is the 
beneficial owner of Main World Investments Limited, one of the major shareholders of the company and  the amount due 
to Mr Fu Guohui who is the brother of Mr Fu Guohui. It is unsecured, non-interest bearing. 
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15. Trade and other payables (continued)

 Company

As at 
 31 December 2011

As at 
 31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000  £’000 

Other payables 231 42 27
Accrued expenses 271 383 230

502 425 257

16. Bank loans

 All bank loans of the Group are denominated in RMB and secured by the buildings and land use rights lease prepayment. 
The effective interest rate of the bank loans for the year ended 31 December 2011 was approximately from 6.10% to 
8.53% (2010: approximately from 6.21% to 8.28% ,2009: approximately from 7.43% to 8.66% and 2008: approximately 
from 8.54% to 9.47%).

 The bank loans as at 31 December 2011 were secured by charges over the buildings and land use rights lease 
prepayments of the Group with net book values of £15,045,000 (2010: £9,608,000 and 2009: £2,723,000) and £7,595,000 
(2010: £3,051,000 and 2009: £2,964,000), respectively as at 31 December 2011

As at 
 31 December 2011

As at 
 31 December 2010

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank of East Asia 30,000 30,000
Weifang City Commercial Bank 12,000 12,000
ICBC 30,000 -
Bank of Communications 13,000 -

85,000 42,000

17. Convertible loan notes

 The convertible loan notes A&B (Notes A&B) were issued between 3 November 2009 and 15 December 2009. The Notes 
A&B are convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and their 
maturity date, i.e. three years after the date of issue. The loan notes are convertible at £0.32 per share. The effective 
interest rate used to calculate the interest charged to the income statement was 12%. If the Notes A&B have not been 
converted, they will be redeemed on their maturity date at par. Interest of 10% per annum will be paid biannually up until 
that date.

 The convertible loan notes C (Notes C) were issued on 23 June 2010 and 11 March 2011. The Notes C are convertible into 
ordinary shares of the Company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and their maturity date, i.e. two years 
after the date of issue. The loan notes are convertible at £0.50 per share. The effective interest rate use to calculate the 
interest charged to the income statement was 10%. If the Notes C have not been converted, they will be redeemed on 
their maturity date at par. Interest of 8% per annum will be paid biannually up until that date.
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17. Convertible loan notes (continued)

 The expiry dates of convertible loan notes A&B and convertible loan note C are 2 November 2012 and 14 June 2012, 
respectively.

 The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan notes have been split between the liability element 
and an equity component, representing the fair value of the embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the 
Group, as follows:

Notes A&B Notes C Total

Gross 
amount

Transaction 
costs

Net 
amount

Gross 
amount

Transaction 
costs

Net 
amount

Net 
amount

£’000 £’000
£’000

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued 3,004 188 2,816 1,380 96 1,284 4,100 
Equity component (127) (8) (119) (44) (3) (41) (160)
Liability component at date of issue 2,877 180 2,697 1,336 93 1,243 3,940 
Interest charged 740 186 926 
Interest paid (492) (98) (590)
Liability component at 31 December 2011 2,945 1,331 4,276 

Notes A&B Notes C Total

Gross 
amount

Transaction 
costs

Net 
amount

Gross 
amount

Transaction 
costs

Net 
amount

Net 
amount

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued 3,004 188 2,816 1,130 86 1,044 3,860

Equity component  (127)  (8)  (119)  (36) (3) (33) (152)

Liability component at date of issue 2,877 180 2,697 1,094 83 1,011 3,708

Interest charged 395 57 452

Interest paid (255)   (47) (302)

Liability component at 31 December 2010 2,837 1,021 3,858

 The directors estimate the fair value of the liability component of the convertible loan notes at 31 December 2011 to be 
approximately £4,276,000 (2010: £3,858,000).

18. Shareholders’ loans

 Group 

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

 £’000  £’000  £’000 

Current 1,889 501 440
Non-current 3,769 3,748 3,611 

5,658 4,249 4,051  
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18. Shareholders’ loans (continued)

 There are four shareholder loans in place, of which three are current and one is non-current. 

 One current loan from a shareholder is denominated in SGD, and is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. 
The other two current loans from two shareholders are denominated in USD, and unsecured, bearing interest of 11% per 
annum.

 The non-current portion of the loan from a shareholder is denominated in USD, and is unsecured, bearing interest of 5% 
per annum.  This loan was rolled over and will now expire on 11 November 2013.

 Company

As at 
 31 December 2011

As at 
 31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£,000 £,000  £,000 

Current 1,291 - -
Non-current 542 537 518

1,833 537 518

 The current portion of loan from two shareholders is denominated in USD. It is unsecured and bears interest of 11% per 
annum.

 The non-current portion of loan from a shareholder is denominated in USD. It is unsecured and bears interest of 5% per 
annum.

19. Share capital

No. of shares £’000
Authorised

As at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2011
- Ordinary shares of 4p each      100,000,000          4,000 

Issued, called up and fully paid

As at 1 January 2011 66,399,991 2,656
New shares issued in April 2011 5,046,981 202
As at 31 December 2011 
- Ordinary shares of 4p each             71,446,972         2,858 
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20. Share premium 

 Group

Year Ended Year Ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010

 £’000
 

 £’000
 

As at 1 January 25,678 25,678
Premium on shares issued on 28 April 2011 2,473 -
Share issue expenses (179) -
Capital reduction (3,000) -
As at December 31 24,972             25,678 

 Company

As at As at
31 December 2011 31 December 2010

 £’000
 

 £’000
 

As at 1 January 6,037 6,037
Premium on shares issued on 28 April 2011 2,473 -
Share issue expenses (179) -
Capital reduction (3,000) -
As at December 31 5,331 6,037

 It was ascertained that the reverse acquisition of Full Fortune Holdings Pte Ltd by the Company in 2007 qualified for 
merger relief under s131 Companies Act 1985.  Accordingly the share premium previously recognised as arising on the 
shares issued by the Company in that transaction was reclassified as a ‘merger relief reserve’.

 The reduction of the share premium of the Company is due to the reduction the share capital confirmed by an order 
issued on 22 June 2011 by the High Court of Justice in England and Wales.

21. Employee remuneration

21.1 Employee benefits expenses

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2011 31 December 2010

 £’000  £’000 
Employee benefits expenses
- Salaries and allowances 2,472 1,979
- Pension scheme contributions 199 105
- Share-based payment 152 32

2,832 2,116

 Remuneration of the Directors is disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration report and note 26.
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21. Employee remuneration (continued)

21.2 Share-based payments

21.2.1 Employee share option

 The Group established a share option scheme in 2007 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 10 June 2009 (the “Date of 
Grant”), the Group granted 4,648,000 options to its Directors and employees with an exercise price of £0.355 per 
ordinary share. On 25 May 2011, the Group granted additional 1,950,000 options to its Directors and employees 
with an exercise price of £0.53 per ordinary share .The purpose of granting options under the Share Option 
Scheme was to incentivise and reward the Group’s employees. 

  The Options may normally be exercised as follows:

2009 Options

Date of Grant Vesting dates Number of options granted Total
Directors Employees

10 June 2009 From the date of grant 464,800 1,084,533 1,549,333

From the date falling 12 months after the date 
of grant 464,800 1,084,533 1,549,333

From the date falling 24 months after the date 
of grant 464,800 1,084,534 1,549,334

1,394,400 3,253,600 4,648,000

2011 Options

Date of Grant Vesting dates Number of options granted Total
Directors Employees

25 May 2011 From the date of grant 583,334                66,666 650,000 

From the date falling 12 months after the date 
of grant          583,333                66,667 

             
650,000 

From the date falling 24 months after the date 
of grant          583,333                66,667 

             
650,000 

1,750,000              200,000 1,950,000 

As at 31 December 2011, all options have vested but none was exercised.
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21. Employee remuneration (continued)

21.2 Share-based payments (continued)

21.2.1 Employee share option (continued)

The fair values of options granted were determined using the Black Scholes model. The following principal 
assumptions were used in the valuation:

2011 Options 2009 Options
Exercise price (£) 0.53 0.355
Share price at date of grant (£) 0.485 0.313
Option life 3 years 730 days
Volatility 40% 20%
Risk free interest rate 0.50% 1.115%
Dividend yield    -   -
Fair value at date of grant (£) 0.119 0.0225

The underlying expected volatility was determined by reference to historical data of the Company’s shares from 
the date of completion of the reverse takeover to the date of grant of the share options. Though the options have 
a contract life of ten years, a shorter option life is used as early exercise is expected. No special features inherent to 
the options granted were incorporated into measurement of fair value.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS2, a total charge of £152,000 (FY2010: £32,000) has been recognised 
in the income statement for the share options granted to the directors and certain employees. Charges for 2009 
options and 2011 options amounted to £7,000 (FY2010: £32,000) and £145,000 (FY2010: nil) respectively.

The weighted average contractual life remaining for 2011 Options and 2009 Options as at 31 December 2011 was 
2.4 years (FY2010: nil) and 7.4 years (FY2010: 8.4 years) respectively.

 21.2.2 Other share-based payments

 China Food granted Strand Partners a warrant to subscribe for 1,328,000 new ordinary shares of the company at 
a subscription price of £0.50 per share. The warrant may be exercised at any time during the period of five years 
from 10 December 2007. As at 31 December 2011 the warrant remained unexercised.
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22. Investments in subsidiaries

 Company

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

 £’000  £’000  £’000 

Equity investment 25,167 25,167 25,167
Advance to a subsidiary 5,517 3,415 2,961
As at end of the period 30,684 28,582 28,128 

 Please refer to note 3.3(c) for details of the subsidiary companies of the Company.

 The advance to a subsidiary was capitalised because repayment was neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future 
and is viewed as a capital contribution to be treated as equity.

23 Notes to the Company statement of cash flows

23.1 Proceeds from issue of convertible loan notes
 

Year ended
31 December 2011

Year ended
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes issued for cash 250 1,130

23.2 Payment of transaction costs

 Transaction costs were professional fees paid to lawyers, accountants, and advisers for the Company in connection with 
the convertible loan notes, which  were  £10,000  for the year (2010: £135,000)

24. Capital commitments

Group

As at the balance sheet date, there is no material capital commitment.
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25. Related party disclosures 

Group

 An entity or individual is considered a related party of the Group for the purposes of the financial statements if: (i) it 
possesses the ability (directly or indirectly) to control or exercise significant influence over the operating and financial 
decisions of the Group or vice versa; or (ii) it is subject to common control.

(a) In addition to related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following significant 
related party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the parties:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000
Directors
Convertible loan interest 9 9
Dividend 1 -

Main World Investments Limited(1)

Convertible loan interest 115 115
Shareholder loan interest 199 189
Shareholder loan as at December 31 4,912 4,249

Albany Capital Group Limited(2)

Convertible loan interest 57 57
Management fee payable 24 25

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd(3)

Convertible loan interest 77 57
Shareholder loan interest 17  -   
Shareholder loan as at December 31 646 -

Sorbic International PLC(4)

Service fee receivable 12 11

(1) Main World Investments Limited is one of the major shareholders of the Company.
(2) Albany Capital Group Limited (“ACGL”) is one of the major shareholders of the Company. One of the 

directors of the Company is also the director and shareholder of ACGL.
(3) Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd is one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.
(4) One of the directors of the Company is also the director of Sorbic International PLC.
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25. Related party disclosures (continued)

 (b) Compensation of key management personnel (as recognised in the consolidated income statement) 

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Short-term employee benefits         659 653
Post employment benefits           16 22
Share-based payments           86 15
Total compensation to key management personnel         761 690

Comprised amounts paid to:
Directors 634 607
Other key management personnel of the Group 127 83

761 690

(c) Convertible loan notes

 As at 31 December 2011, outstanding convertible loan notes owed to the directors were as follows:

Direct Deemed
 £’000 £’000

Principal 50 1,525

Interest accrued 1 28
51 1,553

 
 Deemed interests are indirect holdings, namely shares owned by the spouse of a director, and by a company in 

which a director holds office.

(d) Ultimate controlling party

 China Food is a public listed company with no single controlling party.

 Company

 The following significant related party transactions took place during the year on terms agreed between the 
parties:

As at
31 December 2011

As at
31 December 2010

 £’000
 

 £’000
 

Advance to a subsidiary 2,905 1,601

Amount due from a subsidiary 316 156

 The advance to a subsidiary represents an amount extended by China Food to a subsidiary. It is unsecured, 
interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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25. Related party disclosures (continued)

(d) Ultimate controlling party (continued)

 The amount due from a subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. 

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended 
31 December 2010

£’000 £’000

Management fee income  from a subsidiary 100 100

Directors
Convertible loan interest 9 9
Dividend 1 0

Main World Investments Limited(1)

Convertible loan interest 115 115
Shareholder loan interest 43 27
Shareholder loan as at December 31 1,187 537

Albany Capital Group Limited(2)

Convertible loan interest 57 57
Management fee payable 24 25

Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd(3)

Convertible loan interest 77 57
Shareholder loan interest 17   -   
Shareholder loan as at December 31 646 -

(1) Main World Investments Limited is one of the major shareholders of the Company.
(2) Albany Capital Group Limited (“ACGL”) is one of the major shareholders of the Company. One of the 

directors of the Company is also the director and shareholder of ACGL.
(3) Lam Soon Realty (Pte) Ltd is one of the substantial shareholders of the Company.

As at 31 December 2011, outstanding convertible loan notes owed to the directors were as follows:

Direct Deemed
 £’000 £’000

Principal 50 1,525
Interest accrued 6 124

56 1,649

 Deemed interests are indirect holdings, namely shares owned by the spouse of a director, and by a company in 
which a director holds office.
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26. Directors’ remuneration

 Remuneration paid to or receivable by Directors of China Food in respect of qualifying services was as follows:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended
 31 December 2010

£’000  £’000 
Aggregate fees and emoluments 550 579
Pension scheme contributions 12 18
Share-based payment 72 10

634 607

Total emoluments include the following amounts in respect of the highest paid director:

Year ended 
31 December 2011

Year ended
 31 December 2010

£’000 £’000
Salary and benefits 190 223

 There are no directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under money purchase pension schemes.

27. Risk management objectives and policies

 China Food is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and specifically to currency risk, interest 
rate risk, credit and liquidity risk and certain other price risks, which result from both its operating and investing activities. 
The Group’s risk management is coordinated at its headquarters, in close co-operation with the Board of directors, 
and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to financial 
markets. 

 The Group’s raw materials consist of commodities such as soya bean, corn, wheat and sorghum use in the production 
of animal feed and condiments may fluctuate due to changes in supply and demand conditions. Any shortage in the 
supply or upsurge in demand may lead to an increase in prices, which may adversely affect the Group’s profitability. While 
the Group will seek to mitigate the impact by passing on all or at least part of future cost increases to its customers this 
may not always be possible.  The Group can also adjust its procurement and inventory cycles to hedge against sudden 
price hikes.  However, the Group has set an inventory turnover guideline not to exceed 90 days. Therefore, the directors 
concluded this is not considered an area where sensitivity analysis is of value even though it is influenced by market 
prices.

 China Food does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options. The most 
significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. See also note 27.5 for a summary of the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities by category.



69

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.1 Foreign currency sensitivity

 Group

 Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in the PRC. Both sales and purchases are primarily denominated in 
RMB. The amounts to be paid and received in RMB are expected to largely offset one another, no hedging activity 
is undertaken.  However, as the Group’s financial statements are prepared in GBP, its exposure to foreign currency 
translation is analysed as follows:

 Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009
£’000 £’000 £’000

Nominal amounts USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Financial assets -   10,905 7 - 3,485 13 - 3,143    83 
Financial liabilities (1,291)  (8,702)  (598) - (1,166)   (499) - (2,246)   (440)
Short-term exposure (1,291) 2,203  (591)  - 2,319   (486)  - 897   (357)

Financial liabilities (3,769) (3,740) (2,916)   -   (3,611) -   -   
Long-term exposure (3,769)                 -                -   (3,740) (2,916)   -   (3,611) -   -   

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities and the GBP - USD, GBP - RMB and GBP - SGD exchange rate.

It assumes a +2.1% / -2.2% change of the GBP/USD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 2011 (2010: 
+2.2% / -3.0% and 2009: +3.2% / -1.5%). A +2.0% / -2.2% change of the GBP/RMB exchange rate for the year ended at 31 
December 2011 (2010: +2.0% / -2.6% and 2009: +3.8% / -1.3%). A +1.6% / -1.1% change of the GBP/SGD exchange rate for 
the year ended at 31 December 2011 (2010: +1.7% / -2.1% and 2009: +2.2% / -1.9%). Each of these percentages has been 
determined based on the average monthly market volatility in exchange rates in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity 
analysis is based on the Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at each balance sheet date.

If the GBP had strengthened against the USD, RMB and SGD by 2.1% (2010: 2.2% and 2009: 3.2%), 2.0% (2010: 2.0% 
and 2009: 3.8%) and 1.6% (2010: 1.7% and 2009: 2.2%) respectively then this would have had the following increase/
(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009
 £’000  £’000  £’000 

USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Net result for the year 104  (43) 9  81 12 8  112  (33) 8
Equity 104  (43) 9  81 12 8  112 (33) 8
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.1 Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

 If the GBP had weakened against the USD, RMB and SGD by 2.2% (2010: 3.0% and 2009: 1.5%), 2.2% (2010: 2.6% and 2009: 
1.3%) and 1.1% (2010: 2.1% and 2009: 1.9%) respectively then this would have had the following increase/(decrease) in 
the net result for the year and equity:

As at 31 December 2011 As at 31 December 2010 As at 31 December 2009
 £’000  £’000  £’000 

USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD USD RMB SGD

Net result for the year      (114)           50          (7) (116) (16) (10) (55) 12 (7)
Equity    (114)          50           (7) (116) (16) (10) (55) 12 (7)

Company

Most of the Company’s transactions are denominated in GBP except for an advance to a subsidiary and a shareholder 
loan which are denominated in USD. 

Foreign currency denominated financial assets and liabilities, translated into GBP at the closing rate, are as follows:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000
Nominal amounts USD USD USD

Financial assets 2,905 1,601 1,546
Financial liabilities  (1,291) - -
Short-term exposure 1,614 1,601 1,546

Financial liabilities (542) (537) (518)
Long-term exposure (542) (537) (518)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity in regards to the Company’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities and the GBP - USD exchange rate.

It assumes a +2.1% / -2.2% change of the GBP/USD exchange rate for the year ended at 31 December 2011 (2010: +2.2% / 
-3.0%). Each of these percentages has been determined based on the average monthly market volatility in exchange rates 
in the previous 12 months. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Company’s foreign currency financial instruments held 
at each balance sheet date.
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.1 Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

If the GBP had strengthened against the USD by 2.1% (2010: 2.2%), then this would have had the following increase/
(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000
USD USD USD

Net result for the year             (22) (23) (32)
Equity            (22) (23) (32)

 If the GBP had weakened against the USD by 2.2% (2010: 3.0%), then this would have had the following increase/
(decrease) in the net result for the year and equity:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000
USD USD USD

Net result for the year 24 33 16
Equity 24 33 16

 In 2011, the Company had a USD loan, in relation to which the foreign currency risk was mitigated due to an offsetting 
USD loan receivable from a subsidiary.

27.2 Interest rate sensitivity

 Group

 China Food’s policy is to minimise interest rate cash flow risk exposure on long-term financing. Longer-term borrowings 
are therefore usually at fixed rates. At 31 December 2011, China Food is exposed to changes in market interest rates 
through its bank borrowings, which are subject to variable interest rates. 

 The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates of +0.50% and -0.00% (2010: +1.00%/-0.00% and 2009: +0.81%/-0.00%), with effect from the beginning of 
the year. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions, and 
based on the fact that the Group’s borrowings comprise shareholder loans at a fixed rate of interest, and bank loans in 
China where interest rates are expected to increase. The calculations are based on the Group’s financial instruments held 
at each balance sheet date. All other variables are held constant. 
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.2 Interest rate sensitivity (continued)

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

Change in Interest rate Change in Interest rate Change in Interest rate
0.50 % -0.00% 1.00 % -0.00% 0.81% -0.00%

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and banks 33 - 28 - 23 -
Bank loans - short term  (44) - (12) - (18) -
Shareholders’ loans - current -   - - - (1) -
Convertible loan notes -   - - - - -
Bank loan - long term -   - (29) - - -
Shareholder’s loan - non-current -   - - - (8) -

 (11) - (13) - (4) -

 Company

 The Company is not exposed to changes in market interest rate as the Company estimated a reasonably possible change 
in interest rates of +0.00% and -0.00% (2010: +0.00%/-0.00% and 2009: +0.00%/-0.00%), with effect from beginning of the 
year. 

27.3 Credit risk analysis

 Group

 China Food’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the 
balance sheet date, as summarised below:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other receivables 2,491 737 411 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,584 2,918 3,248

9,075  3,655  3,659
 

China Food continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, identified either individually or by 
group, and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy 
counterparties.

 China Food’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are not impaired for each of the reporting 
dates under review are of good credit quality.

 In respect of trade and other receivables, China Food is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single 
counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk for liquid funds is considered 
negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings. 

 All trade receivables as at 31 December 2011, 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009 were current.
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.3 Credit risk analysis (continued)

 Company

 The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets recognised at the balance 
sheet date, as summarised below:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other receivables 5 5 9
Advance to a subsidiary 2,905 1,601 1,546
Amount due from a subsidiary 316 156 77
Cash and cash equivalents 8 38 161

3,234 1,800 1,793

 In respect of trade and other receivables, China Food is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure. The credit risk 
for liquid funds is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit 
ratings.

27.4 Liquidity risk analysis
 

Group

China Food manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-term and 
short-term financial liabilities as well as cash-outflows due in day-to-day operations. Liquidity needs are monitored in 
various time bands, on a day-to-day basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling one month and three months projection. 
Long-term liquidity needs for a 360-day lookout period are identified in the year end budget.

China Food maintains cash to meet its liquidity requirements for up to 30-day periods. Funding for long-term liquidity 
needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

As at 31 December 2011, China Food’s financial liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised below:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2011 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables          9,893 - - -
Convertible loan notes 1,486 3,107 - -
Shareholder’s loan             1,361 598 5,025 -
Bank borrowings 7,856         1,042 - -

20,596 4,747 5,025        -   
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.4 Liquidity risk analysis (continued)

 This compares to the maturity of China Food’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2010 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables            7,583 - - -
Convertible loan notes 282 197 4,462 -
Shareholder’s loan              - 501 4,694 -
Bank borrowings 1,287         99 3,013 -

        9,152       797 12,169        -   

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2009 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables            4,418 - - -
Convertible loan notes 192 152 3,556 -
Shareholder’s loan              - 440 4,341 -
Bank borrowings 550         1,825 - -

        5,160       2,417 7,897        -   

 The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ to the carrying values of the liabilities at 
the balance sheet date.

 
 Company

 As at 31 December 2011, the Company’s liabilities have contractual maturities which are summarised below:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables               5,062  -    -   -
Convertible loan notes             1,786             3,107  -   -
Shareholder’s loan             1,361  -                  746 -

            3,749             3,107                746        -   
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.4 Liquidity risk analysis (continued)

 This compares to the maturity of the Company’s financial liabilities in the previous reporting periods as follows:

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2010 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 425 - - -
Convertible loan notes 282 197 4,462 -
Shareholder’s loan - - 697 -

707 197 5,159        -   

Current Non-current
within 6 months 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years later than 5 years

2009 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 257 - - -
Convertible loan notes 192 152 3,556 -
Shareholder’s loan - - 647 -

449 152 4,203        -   

27.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

Group

The carrying amounts of China Food’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the balance sheet date of the 
reporting periods under review may also be categorised as follows. See notes 3.9 and 3.14 for explanations as to how the 
categorisation of financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

In all cases the fair values of the assets and liabilities are considered to approximate to their carrying values.  In the case of 
the convertible loan notes this applies to the debt component only
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

Notes Loan and receivables
Other  

(non-IAS39) Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

2011

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 2,491 9 2,500
Cash and cash equivalents 14 6,584 - 6,584
Total for category 9,075 9 9,084

2010

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 737 13 750
Cash and cash equivalents 14 2,918 - 2,918
Total for category 3,655 13 3,668

2009

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 411 9 420
Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,248 - 3,248
Total for category 3,659 9 3,668 



77

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2011

27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

Notes

Financial liabilities 
measured at 

amortised cost Total
£’000 £’000

2011

Non-current:
Borrowings 3,769 3,769

Current:
Borrowings 14,868 14,868
Trade and other payables 15 9,892 9,892
Total for category 28,529 28,529 

2010

Non-current:
Borrowings 10,522 10,522

Current:
Borrowings 1,667 1,667
Trade and other payables 15 7,583 7,583
Total for category 19,772 19,772 

2009

Non-current:
Borrowings 6,355 6,355

Current:
Borrowings 2,686 2,686
Trade and other payables 15 4,418 4,418
Total for category 13,459 13,459 

 Company
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category (continued)

 The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the balance sheet date  are 
considered to approximate to their carrying values. The loan to a subsidiary is non interest bearing but is viewed by the 
Directors as short term in nature and hence the fair value is not considered to be materially different from carrying value. 
These assets and liabilities may also be categorised as follows:

Notes Loan and receivables Total
£’000 £’000

2011

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 5 5
Advance to a subsidiary 25 3,221 3,221
Cash and cash equivalents 14 8 8
Total for category 3,234 3,234

2010

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 5 5
Advance to a subsidiary 25 1,757 1,757
Cash and cash equivalents 14 38 38
Total for category 1,800 1,800

2009

Current:
Trade and other receivables 13 9 9
Advance to a subsidiary 25 1,623 1,623
Cash and cash equivalents 14 161 161
Total for category 1,793 1,793 
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27. Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

27.5 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category (continued) 

Notes

Financial liabilities 
measured at 

amortised cost Total
£’000 £’000

2011

Non-current:
Borrowings 17, 18 542 542

Current:
Borrowings 5,567 5,567
Trade and other payables 15 502 502
Total for category 6,611 6,611

2010

Non-current:
Borrowings 17, 18 4,395 4,395

Current:
Trade and other payables 15 425 425
Total for category 4,820 4,820

2009

Non-current:
Borrowings 17, 18 3,262 3,262

Current:
Trade and other payables 15 257 257
Total for category 3,519 3,519 

28. Capital management policies and procedures

China Food’s capital management objectives are:

	 to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and 
	 to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

These objectives are achieved by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity less cash and cash equivalents as presented on 
the face of the statement of financial position.
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28. Capital management policies and procedures (continued)

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure, i.e. equity and financial liabilities. The 
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. 

 Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows:

As at 
31 December 2011

As at 
31 December 2010

As at 
31 December 2009

£’000 £’000 £’000

Total equity 38,895 34,489 30,054
Cash and cash equivalents (6,584) (2,918) (3,248)
Capital 32,311 31,571 26,806

Total equity 38,895 34,489 30,054
Borrowings:
   Bank loans 8,702 1,166 2,246
   Shareholder’s loan - current 1,889 501 440
   Bank loans – non-current 2,916
   Convertible loan notes 3,940 3,858 2,744
   Shareholder’s loan - non-current 3,769 3,748 3,611
Overall financing 57,195 46,678 39,095

Capital-to-overall financing ratio 0.56 0.68 0.69

 The capital-to-overall financing ratio is considered to be appropriate to the needs of the business.

29. Segmental reporting 

 Management currently identifies the Group’s two service lines as operating segments as further described in note 3.19. 
These operating segments are monitored and strategic decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment operating 
results.

 There were no inter-segment sales and transfers during the years ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).
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29. Segmental reporting (continued)

 Business segments

Year ended 31 December 2011
Animal feed Condiments Total

 £’000  £’000 £’000
Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 23,337 16,890 40,227 

Cost of sales (21,285) (10,370) (31,655)
Finance income 7 18 25 
Finance costs - (530) (530)
Other expenses (25) (6,551) (6,576)
Segment operating profit 2,034 (543) 1,491 
Taxation (503) 135 (368)
Segment profit for the year 1,531 (408) 1,123 

Additions /(reduction) of  non-current assets                 (411)              3,108          2,697 
Segment assets 2011 4,928 62,891 67,819 

Depreciation and amortisation 97 763 860 
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation 1 
Group depreciation and amortisation 861 

Year ended 31 December 2010
Animal feed Condiments Total

 £’000  £’000 £’000
Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 21,214 14,677 35,891

Cost of sales (19,281) (8,779) (28,060)
Finance income 2 6 8
Finance costs - (134) (134)
Other expenses (449) (1,553) (2,002)
Segment operating profit 1,486 4,217 5,703
Taxation (376) (1,058) (1,434)
Segment profit for the year 1,110 3,159 4,269

Segment assets 2010 2,938 51,554 54,492

Depreciation and amortisation 93 460 553
Unallocated depreciation and amortisation 2
Group depreciation and amortisation 555

Segment assets 2009 2,772 40,554 43,326
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29. Segmental reporting (continued)

 Business segments (continued)

 The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments reconcile to the entity’s key financial figures as presented in its 
financial statements as follows:

Year ended
31 December 2011

Year ended
31 December 2010

Year ended
31 December 2009

 £’000  £’000 £’000
Segment revenue
Total segment revenues 40,227 35,891 30,136
Group revenues 40,227 35,891 30,136

Profit or loss
Segment operating profit 1,491 5,703 4,425
Finance income not allocated 6 507 117
Finance costs not allocated (812) (592) (281)
Other expenses not allocated (1,023) (1,865) (1,441)
Group operating profit (338) 3,753 2,820

As at
31 December 2011

As at
31 December 2010

As at
31 December 2009

 £’000  £’000  £’000 
Assets
Total segment assets 67,819 54,492 43,326
Group headquarters 33 184 528
Group assets 67,852 54,676 43,854

30. Sale of Fuss Feed 

 On 14 February 2012, the Company signed a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with an international animal feed 
provider to sell 100% of Fuss Feed’s business and selected assets. EBITDA for the Fuss Feed business was approximately 
£2.1 million for 2011. Pursuant to the MOU, the Company has granted the interested party a period of exclusivity to 
commence the due diligence process with the intention of entering into a definitive sales and purchase agreement 
before the end of June 2012. Based on the initial discussion with the potential buyer, the estimated total book value of 
the assets and liabilities of Fuss Feed to be disposed as at December 31 2011 were RMB 22.7 million and RMB 15.2 million, 
respectively, divided into:

As at 
31 December 2011

RMB  ‘000
Assets of Fuss Feed held for sale
Trade receivables* -
Inventories 5,834
Pre-payments (see Note 13) 16,857

22,691

Liabilities of Fuss Feed held for sale
Trade payables 15,222

Net assets held for sale 7,469

* No trade receivable as all sales are made on cash basis.
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30. Sale of Fuss Feed (continued)

At the date of approval of the annual report, the timing and completion of the transaction is uncertain. The final structure 
may also differ pending the entering of a definitive sales and purchase agreement.

Management has considered as to whether a disposal group existed as per IFRS5 ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations”.  As at the year end, the intention was to sell the feed business, however it was unclear 
as to whether the business could be sold in its current form as a new plant was being constructed.  The new plant was 
approximately 50% complete at year end and is due to be completed in H2 2012.  The expectation is that the business 
could then be sold after the plant is completed.  In management’s judgement, the conditions of IFRS 5 had not been 
met as the assets could not be sold in their present form.  As such, the feed business has been treated as a continuing 
operation as at 31 December 2011.

31. Dividend
 
 A maiden dividend of £0,0013 per share was paid in the year. Although the company had sufficient distributable 

reserves to make the dividend payment, the relevant interim accounts reflecting these profits were not prepared and 
filed at the appropriate time with the Registrar of Companies as required by the Companies Acts 2006. Consequently 
the payment did not comply with the technical requirements of the Companies Acts 2006. Since 31 December 2011, as a 
matter of good governance and to reflect the adequacy of distributable reserves, interim accounts have been filed with 
the Registrar of Companies, and the Company will put a resolution to the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM for their 
approval to take the necessary steps to remedy the situation. These accounts have been drawn up on the basis that the 
infringement referred to above is regularised by the actions to be proposed to shareholders at the forthcoming AGM.  The 
proposals do not affect the results of the Group for the year to 31 December 2011, its net assets at 31 December 2011, nor 
its ability to pay future dividends.
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CHINA FOOD COMPANY PLC
(incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 06077223)

Registered office:
49 Whitehall 
London SW1A 2BX 

Date: 25 May 2012

To all shareholders

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Dear Shareholder,

The Annual General Meeting (“Meeting”) of China Food Company Plc (the “Company”) is due to take place on 29th June 2012 at 
10.30 a.m. at the offices of Stephenson Harwood, 1 Finsbury Circus London EC2M 7SH.

The Meeting is being held to comply with company law requirements and to pass a standard set of shareholder resolutions. You 
will be given the opportunity to raise any questions in relation to such resolutions at the Meeting. 

Resolutions 9 and 10 are proposed as  special resolutions and are special business. This means that for the resolutions to be passed, 
at least three quarters of the votes cast must be in favour of the resolutions. 

Recommendation

The directors of the Company consider that all the proposals to be considered at the Meeting are in the best interests of the 
Company and its members as a whole and are most likely to promote the success of the Company. The directors unanimously 
recommend that you vote in favour of all the proposed resolutions as they propose to do in respect of their own holdings in the 
ordinary share capital of the Company.

Yours sincerely,

John McLean
Chairman

LETTER TO ALL SHAREHOLDERS
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at the offices of Stephenson Harwood, 1 
Finsbury Circus London EC2M 7SH on 29th June 2012 at 10.30 a.m. (UK time) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, 
passing the following resolutions of which numbers 1 through 8 will be proposed as Ordinary Resolutions and number 9 and 10  
will be proposed as Special Resolutions.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

1. To receive and consider the Company’s accounts for the year ended 31 December 2011 and the reports of the directors and 
the auditors thereon.

2. To re-appoint pursuant to Article 182 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditors of the 
Company until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

3. To authorise the directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration.

4. To authorise the payment of the cash dividend of GBP0.0013 per share on 30th November 2011 having been approved by 
the board of directors be approved and ratified.

5. To re-elect as a director of the Company, Feng Bo, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 118 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association and is offering herself for re-election.

6. To elect as a director of the Company, Tang Lin, subject to her consent to act.

7. To generally and unconditionally authorise the directors to allot shares in the Company and/or to grant rights to subscribe 
for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006, 
provided that this authority shall be limited to:

(a) the grant of rights to subscribe for A Notes, B Notes and/or C Notes issued, or to be issued, by the Company 
pursuant to the convertible loan note instruments executed by the Company on 3 November 2009 and 15 June 
2010 respectively (the “Instruments”) and/or the allotment of shares in the Company to be issued in connection 
with the conversion of such A Notes, B Notes or  C Notes up to an aggregate allotment of 12,147,500 ordinary shares 
in the Company; and

(b) (in addition to the authority conferred pursuant to sub-paragraph 7(a) above) shares in the Company up to an 
aggregate nominal value not exceeding £857,634,

and provided also that such authority shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to 
be held in 2013 save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or enter into an agreement which would 
or might require shares in the Company to be allotted, or rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares 
in the Company, to be granted after such expiry and the directors may allot shares in the Company and/or grant rights 
to subscribe for, or to convert any security into, shares in the Company in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the 
authority conferred hereby had not expired.

8. To generally and unconditionally authorise the directors from the date of the passing of this resolution to offer, to any 
holder of Ordinary Shares, the right to elect to receive Ordinary Shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of 
the whole (or some part, to be determined by the Board of Directors) of all or any dividend declared by the Company on 
or before 4th November 2011, on such terms as the Board of Directors shall determine subject to the terms provided in 
Articles 169 and 170 of the articles of association of the Company.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTION

9. Subject to the passing of resolution 7 and in accordance with section 570 of the 2006 Act, to generally empower the 
directors to allot equity securities (as defined in section 560 of the 2006 Act) pursuant to the authority conferred by 
resolution 7, as if section 561(1) of the 2006 Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be 
limited to:

(a) up to an aggregate allotment of 12,147,500 ordinary shares in the Company issued in connection with the 
conversion of A Notes, B Notes or C Notes (as described in resolution 7 above); and

(b) (in addition to the authority conferred pursuant to sub-paragraph 7(a) above) the allotment of equity securities up 
to an aggregate nominal value not exceeding £428,682, and

expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2013 save that the Company may, 
before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such 
expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of any such offer or agreement notwithstanding that the 
power conferred by this resolution has expired.

10. That the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 701 of the 2006 
Act to make market purchases (within the meaning of section 693(4) of the 2006 Act) of ordinary shares of £0.04 each in the 
capital of the Company (“Ordinary Shares”) on such terms and in such manner as the directors of the Company may from 
time to time determine, provided that:

(a) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is £428,396 being 14.99 
per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company on 25th May 2012 ;

(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is £0.04 (exclusive of expenses);

(c) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for an Ordinary Share cannot be more than an 
amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle market price for an Ordinary Share as derived from the AIM 
section of the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately preceding the date 
on which such Ordinary Shares are contracted to be purchased; and

(d) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be 
held in 2013 except in relation to the purchase of any Ordinary Shares the contract for which was concluded before 
the date of expiry of the authority and which would or might be completed wholly or partly after that date.

By Order of the Board

Nigel Catwright
Company Secretary

Registered Office:
49 Whitehall 
London SW1A 2BX
25 May 2012
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